

### Homogenization of the Lake Equations and the Related Topics

湖方程均质化及相关课题

Thesis Submitted in Accordance with

the Requirements of

the University of Liverpool

For the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Maoting Tong

Dr. Chi-kun Lin (XJTLU, Ms Department), Principal supervisor Dr. Xinyao Yang (XJTLU, Ms Department), Co-supervisor Dr. Gayane Piliposyan (UoL, Ms Department), Co-supervisor

NOVEMBER 2022

#### ABSTRACT

The purpose of this thesis is to study the homogenization of the lake equation. It generates reaction effect and the reaction term is induced by homogenization due to the weak convergence. It can be characterized by L. Tartar's method of oscillating test function. We begin by the homogenization of a Stokes equation perturbed by a drift. By means of constructing a similar homogenized equation we figure out the weak limit of the important term, this leads to a limit equation with an extra zero-order term. We then turn to the homogenization of an anelastic Stokes system arising from the lake equations and prove the existence of the solution of the equation using Lax-Milgram Theorem. The homogenization of the anelastic Stokes equation lays a fundation for the homogenization of the lake equation. We finally give the proof of the existence and uniquess of the solution of lake equation using Faedo-Galerkin method and study the homogenization of the lake equation by constructing a homogenized equation of the test function according to Tartar's method.

Keywords: Homogenization; Viscous Lake Equations; Navier Boundary Conditions; Anelastic Stokes System.

#### 摘要

本文研究湖方程的均质化。在均质化过程中,产生了一些反应效 应,其中的反应项是由因弱收敛而引出的均质化产生的。其过程可 用L.Tartar的振荡测试函数方法描述。我们开始给出一个带有漂移扰 动项的Stokes方程的均质化。通过构造一个类似的均质方程可以推导 出其中重要项的弱极限,进而得出带有一个零阶项的极限方程。其 后,我们推导了由湖方程引出的一个滞弹性Stokes系统的均质化,并 且用Lax-Milgram定理证明该方程解的存在性。这为最终研究湖方程 的均质化奠定了一定基础。我们最终运用Faedo-Galerkin方法证明了 湖方程解的存在唯一性,并且通过Tartar的方法构造了一个有关测试 函数的均质方程来研究湖方程的均质化。

关键词:均质化;粘性湖方程;纳维边界条件;滞弹性斯托克斯系统。

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First of all, I wish to express heartfelt gratitude to my principal supervisor, Professor Chi-kun Lin, for his proffesional guidance and valuable suggestions. The precious present he gave to me was not only knowledge, but also meticulous academic spirit and strong mind during my doctoral study. The invaluable experiences and brilliant methods he imparted to me have motivated and enlightened current project in many ways. His instruction and encouragement will become an important influence in my life. I would also like to show sincere appreciation to my co-supervisor Dr. Xinyao Yang who was my supervisor during the final year progress in my undergraduate period. She wisely instructed me and shared many usefull skills to me through the early research life. Without her direction, I could not enter the field of mathematics. I am also grateful to Dr. Gayane Piliposyan for her support and encouragement. Her offer of help and suggestions benefit me a lot. I am also thankful to University of Liverpool (UoL) and Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University (XJTLU) for their support on this research. Finally, I want to express my appreciation to my parents for their unconditional love and support. They devoted most of their time and energy to cultivating me and created an excellent atmosphere for learning.

# Contents

2 Homogenization of a Stokes Equation with a Drift			11
	2.1	Introduction and Main Results	12
	2.2	Proof of the Existence and Uniqueness	17
	2.3	Proof of the Homogenization Result	24
3	3 Homogenization of an Anelastic Stokes System arisin from the Lake Equations		
	3.1	Introduction	36
	3.2	Anelastic Stokes equation with drift term	40
	3.3	Homogenization of the Anelastic Stokes Equation	47
4	Hor	nogenization of the Viscous Lake Equations	55
	4.1	Existence and Uniqueness of the Solution for the Viscous	
		Lake equation	55
	4.2	Homogenization of the Viscous Lake equation	68

1

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

The theory of homogenization is a distinct mathematical subject set forth during the last century. This theory has many significant applications in filtration, disperse media, mechanics of perforated and composite materials, it can be also found in some other branches of physics, modern technology and mechanics. Originally, the theory of homogenization was developed in order to give an account of the macroscopic behaviour of composite materials. The most striking characteristic of composite materials is the fact that they consists of at least two finely mixed constituents. Due to their properties, the composite materials have a wide range of industrial uses nowadays. In general, composite materials have a better behaviour than the average behaviour of their individual constituents. Typical examples are the superconducting multifilamentary composites which are used in the synthesis of optical fibres.

In the ordinary way, in comparison to their global dimension, the heterogeneity in composite materials are relatively small. Hence, there are two scales used to characterize the material, one is the microscopic, which describes the heterogeneity, and the another one is the macroscopic, which is used to describe the global behaviour of the composite materials. In addition, the composite can be viewed as a homogeneous material in macroscopical sight.

This brings up an important topic, homogenization, which is aimed at researching accurately the macroscopic properties of the composite materials by considering the properties of the microscopic structure. That is to say, the heterogeneous medium can be replaced by the homogenized material. Moreover, the global characteristics of the homogenized material are a good approximation of the heterogeneous medium. From the perspective of mathematics, the heterogeneous medium can be regarded as a sequence of the solutions of a boundary value problem depending on a parameter lying in a probability space, and the homogenized material is the limit of the sequence for an appropriate weak topology. This signifies mainly that the solutions of a boundary value problem converge weakly but may not converge strongly (due to the oscillations) to the solution of a limit boundary value problem which is clearly defined. The aim of homogenization is to research how oscillations of coefficients of PDEs generate oscillations in their solutions.

Currently, a vast literature is available on the mathematical aspects of the homogenization theory. In Tartar's [59, 60], the author talked about the background of homogenization theory and the early work done by Évariste Sanchez-Palencia [51, 52]. In consideration of the periodic geometry that mixtures of materials show, Évariste Sanchez-Palencia applied variational methods to identify the first term of an asymptotic expansion when the period length  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0. These generated equations have the same form as the original equations, but have an essential relation with anisotropic materials, even when the materials used are all isotropic. In Cioranescu and Donato's [16], they introduced the framework of homogenization theory started with the variational approach of partial differential equations and then focused on the periodic homogenization of linear partial differential equations. They also revisited the oscillating test function method due to Tartar [57, 58], which is the main tool we will use in this research. In addition, some other monographs can be referred to study the theory of homogenization, in particular: Allaire [3, 4], Bachvalov [5], Bachvalov and Panasenko [6], Oleinik [63], Zhikov, Kozlov and Oleinik [64].

When solving the problems of partial differential equations, the theory of homogenization can be understood as the 'averaging' of partial differential equations, which has been usually associated with the method of weak convergence. Weak convergence method is a significant technique proposed for researching nonlinear partial differential equations. In Evans' [23], the author gave an introduction to this method. When solving some nonlinear partial differential equations, namely

$$T(u) = f, \tag{1.0.1}$$

where T represents a given nonlinear operator, u is the unknown and f is a given function. To research the existence of a solution u of (1.0.1), one can construct a suitable group of solvable approximating problems. We write these problems as

$$T_i(u_i) = f_i \quad \text{for} \quad i = 1, 2, 3, \cdots,$$
 (1.0.2)

where  $T_i$  denotes a nonlinear operator which is close to T by some means for  $i \to \infty$ , the function  $f_i$  is close to f, and  $u_i$  is a solution of (1.0.2). Now, the expectation is that the functions  $\{u_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  will converge to a solution u of the equation (1.0.1).

In point of fact, the operators  $T_i$  may represent discretizations, singular regularizations, finite dimensional projections, gradients of approx-

imate energy functionals, systems collapsing in the limit to a single equation, and so on. In effect, it is usually not very hard to invent a class of reasonable approximation which can be solved in fact for a given nonlinear partial differential equation such as (1.0.1). The approach is to prove that the solutions of (1.0.2) converge to a solution of (1.0.1) indeed. But the nonlinearity is an impediment for solving this problem. Nevertheless, the functions  $\{u_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  usually satisfy some uniform estimates, and likewise these best available boundary conditions are usually not too strong. In consideration of these relatively poor estimates, it can be usually shown only that the functions  $\{u_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  (or a subsequence) converge weakly to a limit u in some function space

$$u_i \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} u \quad \mathrm{as} \quad i \to \infty.$$
 (1.0.3)

This kind of weak convergence is almost always a certain problem, given the strong nonlinearities. Even if one has constructed approximate operators  $T_i$  in some way which tend to T, it does not necessarily mean in application that the weak convergence (1.0.3) can imply

$$T_i(u_i) \to T(u) \quad \text{as} \quad i \to \infty.$$
 (1.0.4)

The obstacle in the procedure is that weak convergence does not have a good behaviour in the case of nonlinearities, and yet such weak convergence is obviously the best result we can obtain.

Early in the late 1940s, a Brinkman-type law [11] has been introduced when researching the Stokes or Navier-Stokes equations. The law was obtained from the Stokes equations by adding a term proportional to the velocity to the momentum equation. Therefore, when deriving the homogenization process, Brinkman's law is widely applied, this means that there is usually a linear zero-order term for the velocity appears in the limit problem. While studying homogenization, the main obstruction is to identify the limit of the terms containing products of two sequences convergence weekly in some function space. The main tool we used to overcome this obstacle is the oscillating test functions method introduced by L. Tartar [57, 58] in 1970s. The idea of Tartar's method is to construct an appropriate collection of oscillating test functions, then by subtraction some terms cancel and passing to the limit one can derive the limit equation of the target problem using the limit expressions obtained [58] (see also [16] for the elementary introduction). The method of the oscillating test functions plays a dominant role in the present research.

Along with the oscillating test functions method, there are many other methods usually been used in homogenization problems, such as the multiple-scale method, the two-scale convergence method introduced by Nguetseng [50] and developed by Allaire [3, 4], and the approaches of G-convergence and H-convergence to the non-periodic case introduced by Spagnolo [54] and Tartar [56] repectively, the more details can be also found in Murat's [49].

The present research was inspired from the work done by M. Briane and P. Gérard [13] as well. In [13], the authors not only revised Tartar's problem but also proposed a new method based on a parametrix of the Laplace operator to overcome the lack of integrability of the given oscillating drift term.

The objective in this thesis is to show the homogenization of a kind of viscous lake equations based on the method of weak convergence. The two-dimensional viscous lake equations can be written as

$$\partial_t(b\boldsymbol{u}) + \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}) + b\eta \boldsymbol{u} + b\nabla h = \operatorname{div}(\nu b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u})) + b\boldsymbol{f}, \quad (1.0.5)$$

$$\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \tag{1.0.6}$$

for  $(\boldsymbol{x},t) = (x_1, x_2, t) \in \Omega \times (0, \infty)$  with  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , a bounded and smooth domain. Here,  $\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}) = 2D(\boldsymbol{u}) - \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}) I$  and  $D(\boldsymbol{u}) = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}})$  is the deformation tensor.

The viscous lake equations (anelastic limit) have been derived by D. Levermore and M. Sammartino in [37] as the shallow water limit of the three-dimensional Navier-Stokes equations, in order to model the evolution of the vertically averaged horizontal components of the velocity to the incompressible three-dimensional viscous fluid confined to a shallow basin with varying bottom topography. The viscous lake equation was started from three-dimensional incompressible Euler flow, the so-called lake equations

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u} + \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla p = 0, & (x, t) \in Q_T, \\ \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, & (x, t) \in Q_T, \\ b\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla = 0, & (\sigma, t) \in S_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}(x, 0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0(x), & x \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.0.7)

where  $Q_T = \Omega \times [0, T)$ ,  $S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0, T)$  for all  $0 < T < \infty$ . The lake equations have been derived in [14, 15, 28] to model the evolution of the vertically averaged horizontal components of the three-dimensional velocity to the incompressible Euler equations confined to a shallow basin with a varying bottom topography. Some results for Euler equations can be employed from Evans and Müller [24], Semmes [53]. More information about the lake equation can be found in publications such as Bresch and Métivier [9], Lacave, Nguyen and Paudaser [33], Jiu and Niu [30], Lions [43] and so on. There are also some literature regarding the compressible and incompressible flows, for example, Bresch, Gisclon and Lin [10], DiPerna and Majda [20, 21, 22].

During the last decades, extensive research has been done into the ho-

mogenization of different types of fluid flow models, and they are still topics of research today. In Marchenko and Hruslov's [46], they considered the homogenization of the stationary incompressible Navier-Stokes equation under distribution of identical obstacles, and they were the first to prove that Brinkman's law describe the limiting behavior of Stokes flow in a periodically perforated domain for a particular scaling of the holes. Afterwards, in his seminal PhD thesis [1], Allaire analyzed the homogenization of the Navier-Stokes equations in open sets perforated with tiny holes. Nowadays, numerous publications can be found on fluid flow homogenization. Homogenization of stationary Navier-Stokes equations was investigated in, for example, Hillairet [29] and Lu [45]. For compressible fluids, both stationary and time-dependent cases were considered in Feireisl and Lu [25], Lu and Schwarzacher [44] and so on. There are also articles investigating the homogenization of the evolutionary Navier-Stokes system such as Mikeliě [48] and Feireisl, Namlyeyeva and Nečasová [26].

The viscous lake equations considered in this thesis have the following equations

$$\partial_t (b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) - \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla b + b \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + b \nabla p^{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) + b\boldsymbol{f},$$
(1.0.8)
$$\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = 0,$$
(1.0.9)

$$\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, \qquad (1.0.9)$$

for  $(\boldsymbol{x},t) \in Q_T = \Omega \times [0,T)$ , with the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \qquad (1.0.10)$$

for  $(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0, T)$ , and the initial condition

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},0) = \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega.$$
 (1.0.11)

Here we assume the eddy viscosity coefficient  $\nu = 1$ , turbulent drag coefficient  $\eta = 0$  and the nonlinear term  $\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})$  is replaced by

$$-\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$$
(1.0.12)

based on some identities. It is remarked that (1.0.10) are usually called the (general) Navier boundary conditions, which were first used by Navier in 1827 (see [7, 42]) and mean that there is a stagnant layer of fluid close to the wall allowing a fluid to slip, and the slip velocity is proportional to the shear stress.

Before deriving the homogenization of viscous lake equations, we considered the homogenization of some important equations in the early chapters on the basis of the homogenization results of a two dimensional equivalent of the perturbed Stokes problem given in section 3 of [13].

In Chapter 2, we proposed the homogenization of a Stokes equation with a drift term in a bounded smooth domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ ,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + \nabla p^{\varepsilon} = \boldsymbol{f}, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), & \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.0.13)

where  $Q_T = \Omega \times [0,T)$ ,  $S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0,T)$  for all  $0 < T < \infty$  and J is the rotation matrix of angle 90°. The equation arises from the Navier-Stokes equation where the nonlinear term  $(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  is replaced by  $(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$ . We prove the limit  $\boldsymbol{u}$  satisfies the Brinkman [11] Stokes

equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u} - \Delta \boldsymbol{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}) J \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla p + M \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{f}, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T, \end{cases} (1.0.14) \\ \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0(\boldsymbol{x}), & \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$

where M is the positive definite symmetric matrix-valued function.

In Chapter 3, we consider an anelastic Stokes system with drift term arising from the lake equations

$$-\operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) - \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + b\nabla p^{\varepsilon} = b\boldsymbol{f}, \quad (1.0.15)$$

$$\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \tag{1.0.16}$$

with the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega.$$
(1.0.17)

This is the analogue of the Stokes equation for the lake equation where the eddy viscosity coefficient  $\nu = 1$ , turbulent drag coefficient  $\eta = 0$ and the nonlinear term  $\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})$  is replaced by

$$-\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}.$$
 (1.0.18)

We show that the sequence  $u^{\varepsilon}$  converges weakly in  $H_b^1(\Omega)$  to the solution u of the Brinkman equation

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u})) - \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{v})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v})J\boldsymbol{u} + b\nabla p + 2M\boldsymbol{u} = b\boldsymbol{f} \\ \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \end{cases}$$

with the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega.$$

In Chapter 4, based on the result in the previous chapters, we propose the homogenization limit of the lake equaitons;

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (b\boldsymbol{u}) - \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}) \nabla b + b \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}) J \boldsymbol{u} + b \nabla p + 2M \boldsymbol{u} = \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u})) + b \boldsymbol{f} \\ \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \qquad (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T \\ \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \end{cases}$$

with the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_{T}.$$

The proof follows Tartar's method using the oscillating test function

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) + b \operatorname{div} ((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) + b \nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div} (b \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})), \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \\ \operatorname{div} (b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(x, 0) = \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda 0}^{\varepsilon}(x), \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(1.0.19)

Some classical results for the Navier-Stokes equations and the knowledge of fluid mechanics we making use of refer to Bensoussan, Lions and Papanicolaou [8], Dafni [18], DiPerna and Majda [21, 22], Majda and Bertozzi [47] and Tsutsui [62].

## Chapter 2

# Homogenization of a Stokes Equation with a Drift Term

In this chapter we study the homogenization of a two-dimensional nonstationary Stokes equation with an oscillating drift term varied from the Navier-Stokes equation. The purpose of the model is to understand how the oscillations of  $v^{\varepsilon}$  will create oscillations in  $\nabla u^{\varepsilon}$  and to discover the equation satisfied by the weak limit u of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ . In this chapter, Tartar's approach based on oscillating test functions method leads to a limit equation with an extra zero-order term. In Section 2.1, we give an introduction to the work done by L. Tartar and show the main results. In Section 2.2, we prove the existence and uniqueness theorem for the solution of the drift nonstationary Stokes equation using Faedo-Galerkin method. Section 2.3 is devoted to the proof of the homogenization result by imitating Tartar approach and constructing a nonstationary linearized Stokes equation.

### 2.1 Introduction and Main Results

The aim of this chapter is to deal with the homogenization of the nonstationary Stokes equation with an oscillating drift term in a bounded smooth domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ ,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + \nabla p^{\varepsilon} = \boldsymbol{f}, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), & \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.1.1)

where  $Q_T = \Omega \times [0, T)$  and  $S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0, T)$  for all  $0 < T < \infty$ .

The homogenization of partial differential equations was first studied by L. Tartar at the end of the Seventies. He developed a method based on oscillating test functions to study homogenization. In his paper [58], the author talked about oscillations of a function to describe a sequence of functions which converges weakly but may not converge strongly. Homogenization is then concerned with understanding how oscillations of coefficients of a partial differential equation create oscillations in its solution.

In [13], the authors revisited a homogenization problem studied by Tartar. The paper considered a scalar equation and a two-dimensional perturbed Stokes equation with a  $L^2$ -bounded oscillating drift.

The equation (2.1.1) arises from the Navier-Stokes equation (we assume that the viscosity and the density of the fluid are both equal to 1)

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + \nabla p^{\varepsilon} = \boldsymbol{f}.$$
(2.1.2)

Thanks to Tartar's work [57, 58], for the nonlinear term  $(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{u}$  with the divergence free velocity  $\boldsymbol{u}$  in the Navier-Stokes equation, we have the identity

$$(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{u} = \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}) = \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u}) \times \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla \left(\frac{1}{2} |\boldsymbol{u}|^2\right),$$
 (2.1.3)

Furthermore, the equivalent of transformation (2.1.3) in two-dimension is

$$(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{u} = \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}) = \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u})J\boldsymbol{u} + \nabla\left(\frac{1}{2}|\boldsymbol{u}|^2\right),$$
 (2.1.4)

where  $\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u}) := \partial_1 u_2 - \partial_2 u_1$  and  $J := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ .

To overcome the trouble caused by the nonlinearity, we replace the first  $\boldsymbol{u}$  in the nonlinear term  $(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{u}$  with a given vector-valued divergence free function v, hence the nonlinear term changes to  $(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{u}$ . Finally we can replace (2.1.2) to the drift nonstationary Stokes equation (2.1.1).

In this chapter, we introduce the spaces  $\mathbb{H}(\Omega)$ ,  $\mathbb{V}(\Omega)$  and  $\mathbb{V}^{-1}(\Omega)$  defined by

$$\mathbb{H}(\Omega) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{u} \in L^2(\Omega) \mid \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}) = 0 \right\},$$
$$\mathbb{V}(\Omega) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{u} \in H^1_0(\Omega) \mid \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}) = 0 \right\},$$

and

$$\mathbb{V}^{-1}(\Omega) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{u} \in H^{-1}(\Omega) \mid \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}) = 0 \right\}.$$

We define the solution space associated with (2.1.1);

$$V^{2}(Q_{T}) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{u} \in L^{2}([0,T); \mathbb{V}(\Omega)), \quad \boldsymbol{u}' = \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial t} \in L^{2}([0,T); \mathbb{V}^{-1}(\Omega)) \right\}$$

which is a Banach space with respect to the norm

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{V^2(Q_T)} = \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^2([0,T);\mathbb{V}(\Omega))} + \|\boldsymbol{u}'\|_{L^2([0,T);\mathbb{V}^{-1}(\Omega))}$$

We begin with the existence theorem of the solution for the drift nonstationary Stokes equation. **Theorem 2.1.1.** Let  $\boldsymbol{f} \in L^2(Q_T)$ . Assume that  $\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$  is bounded in  $W^{1,0,r}_{x,t}(Q_T) \cap C^{\infty}_{x,t}(Q_T)$ , with r > 2 and  $div(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) = 0$ . Then, there exists

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \in V^2(Q_T) \tag{2.1.5}$$

and

$$p^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(Q_T). \tag{2.1.6}$$

Moreover,  $\mathbf{u}^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies the weak formulation of (2.1.1) given by

$$\begin{split} \langle \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon'}(t), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{V}^{-1}(\Omega), \mathbb{V}(\Omega)} &+ \int_{\Omega} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t), \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})) = \langle \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}, t), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle \,, \end{split}$$

$$(2.1.7)$$

for every  $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathbb{V}(\Omega)$ . The trilinear form  $B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi})$  in (2.1.7) is defined by

$$B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{\equiv} \langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle - \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \qquad (2.1.8)$$

Here the term  $\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in the nonstationary Stokes equation (2.1.1) is replaced by the extension of the identity (2.1.4) for any divergence free functions  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$ 

$$\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}\otimes\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) + (\nabla\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \nabla(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}). \quad (2.1.9)$$

The initial condition has to be understood in  $L^2(\Omega)$ ,

$$\lim_{t\to 0} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}_0\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

Moreover, since  $B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} = 0$ , for all  $t \in [0, T)$ , the energy inequality holds

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau \leq \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + C_{\Omega}^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{f}(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau$$

$$(2.1.10)$$

where  $C_{\Omega}$  is the Poincaré constant.

It is worth noticing that the force terms in  $\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  occur because of a magnetic force  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \times \boldsymbol{b}$  as well. Although this force does not work directly it creates oscillations which dissipate energy at a microscopic level, an effect that will appear in the homogenization limit equation. To derive the homogenization limit of (2.1.1) as suggested by Tartar [58] (See also [13] for the revised method. ), we need to construct the homogenized nonstationary Stokes equation of the test function  $\boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda}$ , for  $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \Delta \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div} ((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) + \nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = 0, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \operatorname{div} (\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(\sigma, t) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T, \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(x, 0) = \boldsymbol{w}_{0\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), & \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.1.11)$$

The main result of this chapter is the following homogenization limit of (2.1.1).

**Theorem 2.1.2.** Assume the same hypothesis of Theorem 2.1.1. In addition, suppose

$$\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{v} \quad weakly \ in \quad W^{1,0,r}_{x,t}(Q_T) \cap C^{\infty}_{x,t}(Q_T), \quad r > 2$$
 (2.1.12)

and

$$\boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u}_0 \quad weakly \ in \quad L^2(\Omega)$$
 (2.1.13)

then we can extract a subsequence (still denoted by  $\{\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ ), such that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{u} & \text{in } L^2(Q_T) \\ p^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\text{w}}{\to} p & \text{weakly in } L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(Q_T) . \end{cases}$$
(2.1.14)

Moreover, the limit u satisfies the Brinkman Stokes equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u} - \Delta \boldsymbol{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}) J \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla p + M \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{f}, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ div(\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T, \end{cases}$$
(2.1.15)  
$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0(\boldsymbol{x}), & \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$

where M is the positive definite symmetric matrix-valued function defined by

$$\begin{cases} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M \boldsymbol{\lambda} & weakly \ in \quad L^{\frac{r}{2-2r}}(Q_{T}) \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M \boldsymbol{\lambda} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu} & weakly * \ in \ \mathcal{M}(Q_{T}) \ and \ in \ L^{\frac{r}{2-2r}}(Q_{T}), \end{cases}$$

$$(2.1.16)$$

for  $\lambda$ ,  $b\mu \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . Moreover, the zero-order term of (2.1.15) is given by the convergence

$$\begin{cases} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M\boldsymbol{u} & weakly \ in \quad L^{2-2r}(Q_{T}) \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda} & weakly * in \quad \mathcal{M}(Q_{T}) \ and \ in \ L^{2-2r}(Q_{T}). \end{cases}$$

$$(2.1.17)$$

The energy relation for the limit equation (2.1.15) is

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{u}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau + M \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{u}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau$$

$$\leq \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + C_{\Omega}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{f}(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau .$$
(2.1.18)

The rest of the chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2.2, we prove the existence and uniqueness theorem for the solution for the drift nonstationary Stokes equation (2.1.1). Section 2.3 is devoted to the proof of the main theorem (Theorem 2.1.2).

**Notation.** In this chapter,  $\nabla \boldsymbol{u} := \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}_i}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}_j}\right)_{1 \leq i,j \leq N}$  for  $\boldsymbol{u} : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ .  $L^q(\Omega), (q \geq 1)$  denotes the classical Lebesgue space with norm  $\|\boldsymbol{f}\|_q = (\int_{\Omega} |\boldsymbol{f}|^q dx)^{1/q}$ , the Sobolev space of functions with all its k-th partial derivatives in  $L^2(\Omega)$  will be denoted by  $H^k(\Omega)$ , and its dual space is  $H^{-k}(\Omega)$ . We use  $\langle \boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{g} \rangle = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \boldsymbol{g} dx$  to denote the standard inner product on the Hilbert space  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Given any Banach space X with norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{X}}$  and  $p \geq 1$ , the space of measurable functions  $\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{u}(t)$  from [0,T) into X such that  $\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{\mathbb{X}} \in L^q([0,T))$  will be denoted  $L^q([0,T);\mathbb{X})$ . And  $C([0,T); \mathbf{w} \cdot H^k(\Omega))$  will denote the space of continuous function from [0,T) into  $\mathbf{w} \cdot H^k(\Omega)$ . This means that for every  $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in H^{-k}(\Omega)$ , the function  $\langle \boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{u}(t) \rangle$  is in C([0,T)).

### 2.2 Proof of the Existence and Uniqueness

We will prove the existence and uniqueness theorem for solution for the drift nonstationary Stokes equation (2.1.1) in this section. The strategy of the proof is motivated by Leray's seminal work on the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations [35], see also [61, 17, 19]. It proceeds in six steps. We can construct a sequence of approximate solutions by any method that yields a consistent weak formulation and an energy relation. We will employ the Faedo-Galerkin method to approximate our drift Stokes equation by a sequence of Cauchy problems for suitable systems of ODEs in finite dimensional spaces. The structure of these steps was enlightened by my supervisor Prof. Lin [38, 39, 40, 41].

**Step 1:** Construction of approximate solutions  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  by the Faedo-Galerkin method.

First, we select a countable orthonormal basis  $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  of the space  $H_0^1(\Omega) \cap C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . For any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , we define the approximate solution  $\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)$  of (2.1.1) by

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_{im}^{\varepsilon}(t)\boldsymbol{e}_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.2.1)$$

with  $c_{im}^{\varepsilon}(t) \in H^1[0,T), 0 < T < \infty$ .

Let now introduce, for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , the finite dimensional approximate problem for (2.1.1)

$$\begin{cases} \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}{}'(\boldsymbol{x},t), \boldsymbol{e}_{k} \rangle + \int_{\Omega} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{e}_{k} \, d\boldsymbol{x} + B(\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{e}_{k}) = \langle \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},t), \boldsymbol{e}_{k} \rangle \,, \\ & \text{in } \mathcal{D}'[0,T), \,\,\forall k = 1, \cdots, m \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},0) = \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \end{cases}$$

$$(2.2.2)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}$  is the orthogonal projection of  $\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}$  onto the space spanned by  $\{\boldsymbol{e}_{1}, \boldsymbol{e}_{2}, \cdots, \boldsymbol{e}_{m}\}$  in  $H_{0}^{1}(\Omega)$ .

From the initial condition in this problem, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_{im}^{\varepsilon}(0) \boldsymbol{e}_{i} = \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{e}_{i} \rangle \boldsymbol{e}_{i},$$

which implies  $c_{im}^{\varepsilon}(0) = \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{e}_i \rangle$ , since  $\{\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{e}_2, \cdots, \boldsymbol{e}_m\}$  are linearly independent.

From classical results concerning Hilbert spaces, we have that

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) 
ightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$$
 strongly in  $L^{2}(\Omega)$ 

as  $m \to \infty$  so that

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\leqslant \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$$

Moreover, applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the Poincaré inequality, these solutions will satisfy the regularized version of the energy relation (2.1.10) as the equality

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau = \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + C_{\Omega}^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{f}(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau$$
(2.2.3)

for all  $t \in [0, T)$ .

Consequently, problem (2.2.2) is a system of m linear ordinary differential equations of the first order with unknowns  $c_{1m}, \dots, c_{mm}$ . By Picard's local existence theory, the system of linear ODEs (2.2.2) has a unique solution on some interval  $(0, t_m), 0 < t_m < T$ . Furthermore, the energy relation (2.2.3) provides a global  $L^2(\Omega)$  bound on the solutions, ensuring that they are global. The detail is referred to [61].

**Step 2:** Show that  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  converges strongly to  $\{\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\}$  in  $L^2(Q_T)$  as  $m \to \infty$ .

Thanks to the energy inequality (2.1.10) and the energy space (2.1.5), we can obtain

- (a)  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  is bounded in  $L^2([0,T); \mathbb{V}(\Omega));$
- (b)  $\{\partial_t \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  is bounded in  $L^2([0,T); \mathbb{V}^{-1}(\Omega));$
- (c)  $\mathbb{V}(\Omega)$  is compactly embedded in  $\mathbb{H}(\Omega)$  and  $L^2(\Omega)$  is continuously embedded in  $\mathbb{V}^{-1}(\Omega)$ .

From the Aubin-Lions lemma (see [61]), we can know that the injection of the space  $L^2([0,T); \mathbb{V}(\Omega))$  into  $L^2(Q_T)$  is compact, which implies that  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  admits a strongly converging subsequence in  $L^2(Q_T)$ .

**Step 3:** Passage to the limit as  $m \to \infty$ .

We want to pass to the limit as  $m \to \infty$  in (2.2.2) using the energy estimate (2.2.3). We recall that at the present time  $\varepsilon > 0$  is fixed, and we are only concerned with a passage to the limit as  $m \to \infty$ . First, Step 2 and the energy estimate (2.2.3) ensures that we can extract a subsequence (still denoted by m), such that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} & \text{strongly in} \quad L^{2}(Q_{T}) \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon'} \stackrel{w}{\longrightarrow} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon'} & \text{weakly in} \quad L^{2}([0,T); \mathbb{V}^{-1}(\Omega)) \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon} & \text{strongly in} \quad L^{2}(\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(2.2.4)

Now let  $\varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) \in \mathbb{V}(\Omega)$  and choose a  $\psi(t) \in \mathcal{D}[0,T)$  such that  $\psi(0) = 1$ and  $\psi(T) = 0$ . Multiply the equation in (2.2.2) by  $\langle \boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{e}_i \rangle_{L^2(\Omega)} \psi$  and sum over k from 1 to m. After integration in t over [0,T), we get

$$-\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t): \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_0^T B(\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}))\psi(t)\,dt = \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle.$$
(2.2.5)

Note that for the first term in this equation, due to the following identity

$$\begin{split} &\int_{Q_T} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon} \psi(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= \int_{Q_T} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \big( \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi(t) \big) - \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \big) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, dx dt \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \big( \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, T) \psi(T) - \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) \psi(0) \big) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon} \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= - \left\langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \right\rangle - \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt. \end{split}$$

We now let  $m \to \infty$  here. All the terms pass to the limit, thanks to

convergences (2.2.4), we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt \to \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt \quad \text{as} \quad m \to \infty \,, \\ &\int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}: \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt \to \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}: \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt \quad \text{as} \quad m \to \infty \,, \\ &\int_0^T B(\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\psi(t)\,dt \to \int_0^T B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\psi(t)\,dt \quad \text{as} \quad m \to \infty \,, \end{split}$$

and

$$\langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle \rightarrow \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle \quad \mathrm{as} \quad m \rightarrow \infty \,.$$

Summing up the above convergence results, we finally get that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies the integral identity

$$-\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t): \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_0^T B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}))\psi(t)\,dt = \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle,$$
(2.2.6)

which is exactly the variational equation in (2.1.7) since  $\psi$  and  $\varphi$  are arbitrary respectively in  $\mathcal{D}[0,T)$  and  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . This shows that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is the weak solution of (2.1.1).

### Step 4: The energy inequality.

To recover the energy inequality (2.1.10) from the energy relation (2.2.3), first we note that the regularized initial data  $\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(x)$  converges to  $\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x)$ strongly in  $L^{2}(\Omega)$  as m tends to infinite so that

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} o \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$$

The convergence of  $\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}$  in  $L^2(Q_T)$  together with the fact that the norm of the weak limit of a sequence is a lower bound for the inferior limit of the norms, yields

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leqslant \liminf_{m \to \infty} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \qquad 0 < t < T < \infty.$$

Similarly, the convergence of  $\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}$  in  $L^2(Q_T)$  implies

$$\int_0^T \|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{L^2}^2 d\tau \leq \liminf_{m \to \infty} \int_0^T \|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}_m(\tau)\|_{L^2}^2 d\tau.$$

By combining the above inequalities, we obtain from (2.2.3) the energy inequality

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}}^{2} d\tau \leq \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + C_{\Omega}^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{f}(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau \quad (2.2.7)$$

for all  $t \in [0, T)$ , where  $C_{\Omega}$  is the Poincaré constant which is independent of  $\varepsilon$ .

### Step 5: Proof of the uniqueness.

Since the nonstationary Stokes equation (2.1.1) is linear, the uniqueness follows immediately from the energy inequality. Let  $\boldsymbol{u}_1^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{u}_2^{\varepsilon}$  be two solutions corresponding to the same data of (2.1.1) then their difference  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \equiv \boldsymbol{u}_1^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{u}_2^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies the equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} = \Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T, \\ \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = 0, & \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.2.8)

and the energy inequality

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|\nabla\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} d\tau \leq 0.$$

$$(2.2.9)$$

The energy inequality (2.2.9) implies that

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^2}^2 = 0, \qquad 0 \leqslant t < \infty,$$

and the uniqueness is proved.

#### **Step 6:** The existence of the pressure $p^{\varepsilon}$ .

Since  $u^{\varepsilon} \in W$  exists and is unique in the nonstationary drift Stokes equation, we have the following equation for  $p^{\varepsilon}$ 

$$\nabla p^{\varepsilon} = \Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + f, \quad (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T.$$
 (2.2.10)

Taking divergence to the both sides of the equation, we have

$$\operatorname{div}\left(\nabla p^{\varepsilon}\right) = \Delta(\operatorname{div}\left(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\right)) - \partial_{t}(\operatorname{div}\left(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\right)) - \operatorname{div}\left(\operatorname{curl}\left(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}\right)J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\right) + \operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{f}.$$

Since  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  is divergence free, the above equation turns to the Poisson equation

$$\Delta p^{\varepsilon} = -\operatorname{div}\left(\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\right). \tag{2.2.11}$$

Then the existence and uniqueness of the Poisson equation ensures that there exists a unique  $p^{\varepsilon}$  such that the equation (2.1.1) holds in  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ . From the boundedness of  $\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$  in  $W^{1,0,r}_{x,t}(Q_T)$  and  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in  $L^2([0,T); \mathbb{V}(\Omega))$ , we have

$$\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}([0,T); L^{\frac{2r}{2+r-2r}}(\Omega)), \qquad (2.2.12)$$

then it follows immediately that,

$$\Delta p^{\varepsilon} = -\operatorname{div}\left(\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\right) \in L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}\left([0,T); W^{-1,\frac{2r}{2+r-2r}}(\Omega)\right). \quad (2.2.13)$$

Finally from the regularity property we deduce the boundedness of  $p^{\varepsilon}$ 

$$p^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}([0,T); W^{1,\frac{2r}{2+r-2r}}(\Omega)).$$
 (2.2.14)

Since the space  $W^{1,\frac{2r}{2+r-2r}}(\Omega) \subset L^{\frac{2r}{2+r-2r}}(\Omega)$  is a compact embedding and  $L^{\frac{2r}{2+r-2r}}(\Omega) \subset L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(\Omega)$  for r > 2, we can assert that

$$p^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(Q_T). \tag{2.2.15}$$

That is,  $p^{\varepsilon}$  is bounded in  $L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(Q_T)$ . Due to the reflexivity of the space  $L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(Q_T)$  for r > 2, up to a subsequence the following convergence holds

$$p^{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{w}} p$$
 weakly in  $L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(Q_T)$ . (2.2.16)

This completes the proof of Theorem 2.1.1.

### 2.3 Proof of the Homogenization Result

In this section, we will give the proof of homogenization limit theorem 2.1.2. We first rewrite the weak formulation as

$$-\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t):\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_0^T B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}))\psi(t)\,dt = \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\,d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle,$$
(2.3.1)

for every  $\varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  and some  $\psi(t) \in \mathcal{D}[0,T)$  such that  $\psi(0) = 1$ and  $\psi(T) = 0$ . Meanwhile, we have the energy inequality

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau \leq \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + C_{\Omega}^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{f}(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau.$$
(2.3.2)

Similar to the Step 2 above, we obtain the convergence of  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ ,

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{u} \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^2(Q_T),$$
 (2.3.3)

due to Aubin-Lions lemma, which shows that the injection of the space  $L^2([0,T); \mathbb{V}(\Omega))$  into  $L^2(Q_T)$  is compact.

### Convergence results of the test function.

To derive the homogenization limit of (2.1.1), we imitate Tartar approach and construct a nonstationary linearized Stokes equation using the test function  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$  for  $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ 

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \Delta \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div} ((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) + \nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = 0, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \operatorname{div} (\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) = 0, & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T, \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} (\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = \boldsymbol{w}_{0\lambda}^{\varepsilon} (\boldsymbol{x}), & \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.3.4)$$

According to the results in [34] (see Theorem 6, p. 100), suppose that  $\partial \Omega \in C^1$ . Let  $\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \in W^{1,0,r}_{x,t}(Q_T) \cap C^{\infty}_{x,t}(Q_T)$  with r > 2. The spaces  $W^{k,l,p}_{x,t}(Q_T)$  occuring here consists of all the elements of  $L^p(Q_T)$ , which possess generalized derivatives with respect to x up to order k, and with respect to t up to order l (inclusive) in  $L^p(Q_T)$ . The norm in this space is defined as

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{W^{k,l,p}_{\boldsymbol{x},t}(Q_T)} = \left(\int_{Q_T} \left(\sum_{\alpha=0}^k |D_x^{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}|^p + \sum_{\alpha=0}^l |D_t^{\alpha}\boldsymbol{u}|^p\right) d\boldsymbol{x} dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Then we have

$$\boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x},t) = -\operatorname{div}((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \in L^{r}(Q_{T})$$
(2.3.5)

and

$$\alpha(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{w}_{0\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) \in W^{2-\frac{2}{r},r}(\Omega).$$
(2.3.6)

We also assume that

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{0\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{w}_{0\lambda} = 0 \quad \text{weakly in} \quad W^{2-\frac{2}{r},r}(\Omega) \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
 (2.3.7)

By the differentiability properties of the nonstationary linearized Navier-Stokes equation, the problem (2.3.4) possesses a unique solution  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ ,  $q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ , such that

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \in W^{2,1,r}_{x,t}(Q_T), \qquad \nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \in L^r(Q_T),$$
 (2.3.8)

and the following estimates holds

$$\|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{W^{2,1,r}_{x,t}(Q_{T})} + \|\nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{r}(Q_{T})} \leqslant C\big(\|\boldsymbol{F}\|_{L^{r}(Q_{T})} + \|\boldsymbol{w}_{0\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{W^{2-\frac{2}{r},r}(\Omega)}\big).$$
(2.3.9)

Since

$$\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{v} \quad \text{weakly in} \quad W^{1,0,r}_{x,t}(Q_T) \cap C^{\infty}_{x,t}(Q_T),$$
 (2.3.10)

this shows that in bounded smooth domain  $\Omega$ ,

$$\boldsymbol{F} = -\operatorname{div}((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0. \quad (2.3.11)$$

Combining with (2.3.7), we obtain

$$\|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{W^{2,1,r}_{x,t}(Q_{T})} + \|\nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{r}(Q_{T})} \leqslant C(\|\boldsymbol{F}\|_{L^{r}(Q_{T})} + \|\boldsymbol{w}_{0\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{W^{2-\frac{2}{r},r}(\Omega)}) \to 0.$$
(2.3.12)

By maximum principle, we are led to the conclusion that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 & \text{weakly in } W_{x,t}^{2,1,r}(Q_T) \\ q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 & \text{weakly in } W_{x,t}^{1,0,r}(Q_T)/\mathbb{R} \,. \end{cases}$$
(2.3.13)

Then in bounded smooth domain  $\Omega$ ,

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0$$
 weakly in  $W^{1,r}(Q_T)$ . (2.3.14)

However, the weak convergence (2.3.10) of  $\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$  and (2.3.14) does not guarantee the convergence of the product  $(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$ . Indeed, we have the following convergence instead,

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \cdot \boldsymbol{v} + M\lambda = M\lambda \quad \text{weakly in} \quad L^{q}(Q_{T}), \qquad (2.3.15)$$

where  $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{r} - 1 + \frac{1}{r} - 1 = \frac{2-2r}{r}$  and the term M is a positive definite symmetric matrix-valued function, it is a kind of measure. The more details of measures can be found in [12]. Similarly,

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M \boldsymbol{\lambda} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu} \quad \text{weakly} * \text{ in } \mathcal{M}(Q_T) \text{ and in } L^{\frac{r}{2-2r}}(Q_T).$$
(2.3.16)

(2.3.15) and (2.3.16) are exactly the convergence results (2.1.16).

Let  $\varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  be a scalar function, choose  $\psi(t) \in \mathcal{D}[0,T)$  with  $\psi(0) = 1$  and  $\psi(T) = 0$ . Following Tartar's oscillating test function method we put  $\varphi \psi \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$  and  $\varphi \psi \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  as test function in equation (2.1.1) and (2.3.4) respectively. The weak formulation of (2.1.1) is

$$\int_{Q_T} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \varphi \psi \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} dt 
+ \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \varphi \psi d\boldsymbol{x} dt + \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : (\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi)^{\mathrm{T}}) \psi d\boldsymbol{x} dt 
+ \int_{Q_T} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \varphi \psi \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \int_{Q_T} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \varphi \psi d\boldsymbol{x} dt 
- \int_{Q_T} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : (\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi)^{\mathrm{T}}) \psi d\boldsymbol{x} dt + \int_{Q_T} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla \varphi \cdot \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \psi d\boldsymbol{x} dt 
- \int_{Q_T} p^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi \cdot \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) \psi d\boldsymbol{x} dt = \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f} \varphi \psi \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} dt.$$
(2.3.17)

As  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0$  weakly in  $W_{x,t}^{2,1,r}(Q_T)$ , some of the terms in (2.3.17) vanish except the second and the fifth terms, consequently the formulation (2.3.17) turns to

$$\int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \int_{Q_T} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt = o(1).$$
(2.3.18)

On the other hand, the weak formulation of (2.3.4) is

$$-\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_t \big( \psi(t) \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \big) \varphi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \langle \boldsymbol{w}_{0\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}, \varphi \rangle + \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \operatorname{div} \big( \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi)^{\mathrm{T}} \big) \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt + \int_{Q_T} \big( (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \lambda \big) : \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \int_{Q_T} q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \int_{Q_T} \big( (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \lambda \big) : \big( \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi)^{\mathrm{T}} \big) \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt = 0.$$

$$(2.3.19)$$

The convergence (2.3.10) and the strong convergence of  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in  $L^2(Q_T)$  implies

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda} \right) : \left( \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi)^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} \to 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad 0 \leqslant t < T. \tag{2.3.20}$$

By energy estimate and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \left( (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda} \right) : \left( \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi)^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} \right|$$

$$\leq |\psi| \left\| (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \left\| \nabla \varphi \right\|_{L^{2}} \left\| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \right\|_{\mathbb{H}}$$

$$\leq C \left\| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \right\|_{\mathbb{H}}$$

$$(2.3.21)$$

for all  $0 \leq t < T$ . Therefore, by Lebesgue dominated theorem

$$\int_{Q_T} \left( (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda} \right) : \left( \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} (\nabla \varphi)^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0. \quad (2.3.22)$$

Then applying the convergences (2.3.7) and (2.3.13), for the same reason as before we can rewrite the weak formulation (2.3.19) as

$$\int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \int_{Q_T} \left( (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda} \right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt = o(1).$$
(2.3.23)

Note that for a matrix A and vectors  $\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{u}$ , the following identity holds

$$(\boldsymbol{v}\otimes\boldsymbol{u}):A=A^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\boldsymbol{u}.$$

In this way the weak formulations (2.3.18) and (2.3.23) can be written as

$$\int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \int_{Q_T} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt = o(1) \quad (2.3.24)$$

and

$$\int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt - \int_{Q_T} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda} \varphi \psi \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt = o(1).$$
(2.3.25)

Then the equation (2.3.24) gives the weak convergence

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \quad \text{in} \quad \mathcal{D}'(Q_{T}).$$
(2.3.26)

Taking difference of (2.3.24) and (2.3.25) yields the weak convergence

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v})\cdot\boldsymbol{\lambda}\overset{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup}(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$$
 in  $\mathcal{D}'(Q_{T}).$  (2.3.27)

We may now consider the convergence of the term  $(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$ . Recall the result we obtained before

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \cdot \boldsymbol{v} + M \boldsymbol{\lambda} = M \boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad \text{weakly in} \quad L^{\frac{r}{2-2r}}(Q_T), \quad (2.3.28)$$

and the strong convergence of  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$ 

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{u}$$
 strongly in  $L^2(Q_T)$ , (2.3.29)

(2.3.31)

we conclude that

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{w}} M \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad \text{weakly in} \quad L^{q}(Q_{T}), \quad (2.3.30)$$

where  $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{2-2r}{r} + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2-2r}$ . According to (2.3.26), (2.3.27) and (2.3.30), it follows that  $\begin{cases} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M\boldsymbol{u} & \text{weakly in} \quad L^{2-2r}(Q_{T}) \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda} & \text{weakly * in} \quad \mathcal{M}(Q_{T}) \text{ and in } L^{2-2r}(Q_{T}). \end{cases}$ 

#### Passage to the limit as $\epsilon \to 0$ .

The task is now to discuss the convergence of the weak formulation (2.3.1) as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . First, it follows directly from the hypothesis (2.1.13) that

$$\langle \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle \to \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
 (2.3.32)

For the first term in the weak formulation (2.3.1), by energy inequality and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have

$$|\langle \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t), \psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle| \leq \sup_{0 \leq t < T} |\psi'(t)| \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}$$
(2.3.33)

Then the convergence (2.3.3) and Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem ensure the convergence

$$\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \to \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0 \,.$$
(2.3.34)

Since  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  is bounded in  $L^2([0,T); \mathbb{V}(\Omega))$ , on account of the fact that  $\mathbb{V}(\Omega)$  is compactly embedded into  $\mathbb{H}(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}$$
 weakly in  $L^2(Q_T)$ . (2.3.35)

By energy estimate and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\begin{split} |\langle \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t), \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \psi \rangle| &\leq \sup_{0 \leq t < T} |\psi| \| \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \| \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq C \| \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \end{split}$$

for all  $0 \leq t < T$ . It follows by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem that

$$\int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \psi(t) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt \to \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \psi(t) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt.$$
(2.3.36)

It remains to show the convergence of the trilinear form

$$B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle - \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, dx. \qquad (2.3.37)$$

For the first term in the trilinear form, we rewrite it as

$$\langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle = \langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}), \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle + \langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle.$$
 (2.3.38)

We first consider the first term in the RHS of (2.3.38), it follows from (2.3.31) that

$$\langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v}), \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle \rightarrow \langle M \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle.$$
 (2.3.39)

In addition, the convergence  $\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}$  weakly in  $L^2(Q_T)$  implies

$$\langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle \rightarrow \langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle.$$
 (2.3.40)

Together with (2.3.39) and (2.3.40), we obtain the limit of  $\langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle$ ,

$$\langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle \rightarrow \langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle + \langle M \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle.$$
 (2.3.41)

On the other hand, from the strong convergence (2.3.3) of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  and the weak convergence (2.1.12) of  $v^{\varepsilon}$  implies the convergence

$$\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}$$
 weakly in  $L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}} ([0,T); L^{\frac{2r}{2+r-2r}}(\Omega)).$  (2.3.42)

Thus we can derive the limit of the second term in the trilinear form

$$\int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0 \,. \quad (2.3.43)$$

Putting (2.3.41) and (2.3.43) together, we have the convergence of the trilinear form

$$B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \to B(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) + \langle M \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
 (2.3.44)

We can deduce from the energy estimate and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality that

$$\left| \langle (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle \psi \right| \leq \sup_{0 \leq t < T} |\psi| \| \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{\infty}} \| \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{L^{2}} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\leq C \| \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{L^{2}}$$

$$(2.3.45)$$

and

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \, d\boldsymbol{x} \boldsymbol{\psi} \right| \leq \sup_{0 \leq t < T} |\boldsymbol{\psi}| \, \| \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{\infty}} \, \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{\mathbb{H}} \, \| \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\leq C \, \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{\mathbb{H}} \, .$$
(2.3.46)

Combining (2.3.32), (2.3.34), (2.3.36) and (2.3.44), by Lebesgue dominated theorem we conclude that the limit  $\boldsymbol{u}$  satisfies the weak formulation

$$-\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x},t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt + \int_{Q_T} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x},t) : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \psi(t) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt + \int_0^T B(\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x},t), \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x},t), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})) \psi(t) \, dt + \int_{Q_T} M \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x},t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \psi(t) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt = \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},t) \psi(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x} dt + \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle.$$

$$(2.3.47)$$

Moreover, it follows from (2.2.16) that

$$\nabla p^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \nabla p$$
 weakly in  $L^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}([0,T); W^{-1,\frac{2r}{2+r}}(\Omega)).$  (2.3.48)

Therefore we can write the limit equation of the nonstationary perturbed Stokes equation as

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{u} - \Delta \boldsymbol{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}) J \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla p + M \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{f}.$$
 (2.3.49)

In addition, for the divergence of  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$ , the weak convergence of  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  to  $\boldsymbol{u}$  in  $L^2([0,T); \mathbb{V}(\Omega))$ , and the fact that  $\mathbb{V}(\Omega)$  is compactly embedded into  $\mathbb{H}(\Omega)$  give that

div 
$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup}$$
 div  $\boldsymbol{u}$  weakly in  $L^2(Q_T)$ . (2.3.50)

Finally, the desired homogenization equation (2.1.15) is obtained.

#### Convergence of the Energy:

The energy associated with (2.1.1) is given by

$$E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})(t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{\equiv} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau.$$
(2.3.51)

First we have the compactness of  $E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})$ .

**Lemma 2.3.1.**  $E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})$  is a relatively compact set in C[0,T) for all  $0 < T < \infty$ .

*Proof.* As discussed in the previous sections, according to the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem, it is equivalent to show

(a) 
$$|E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})(t)| < C_1$$
, for all  $t \in [0, T)$ .

(b)  $|E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})(t+h) - E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})(t)| \leq \theta(h)$ , uniformly with respect to  $\varepsilon$ , for all  $t \in [0, T)$  and for all h > 0, where  $\theta$  tends to zero as h goes to zero.

(a) follows immediately by Cauchy-Schwarz and the energy inequalities. For the second statement (b), observe that the weak formulation yields

$$|E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})(t+h) - E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})(t)| \leq \left| \int_{t}^{t+h} |\langle \boldsymbol{f}(t), \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \rangle dt \right|$$
$$\leq h^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}(Q_{T})} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}((0,T);\mathbb{V}(\Omega))}$$

where we have use the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, energy relation and the assumption of the initial condition and nonhomogeneous term f.

Hence there exists a subsequence still denoted by  $\{E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})\}_{\varepsilon}$  and a function  $E(\boldsymbol{u}) \in C[0,T)$  such that

$$E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \to E(\boldsymbol{u}) \quad \text{in} \quad C[0,T) \,.$$

The same discussion as Step 4 in Section 2.2, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\boldsymbol{u}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}^2 + \int_0^t \|\boldsymbol{u}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^2 \, d\tau &\leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to \infty} E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})(t) \\ &\leq \|\boldsymbol{u}_0\|_{L^2}^2 + C_{\Omega}^2 \int_0^T \|\boldsymbol{f}(\tau)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 d\tau \,. \end{aligned}$$

As we have seen, the product of two weakly convergent sequences does not converge in general, to the product of the limits, and this is the principal difficulty when trying to characterize the limit  $E(\boldsymbol{u})$ ;

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})(t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{\equiv} E(\boldsymbol{u})(t) \neq \|\boldsymbol{u}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}^2 + \int_0^t \|\boldsymbol{u}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^2 d\tau.$$

The weak convergence would only give a compactness of  $E^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})$  in C[0,T), so it is difficult to find the limit energy from (2.3.51) directly. However, using the homogenization limit or (2.3.31), we have

$$E(\boldsymbol{u})(t) = \|\boldsymbol{u}(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}(\Omega)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{u}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau + M \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{u}(\tau)\|_{\mathbb{V}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau.$$
(2.3.52)

The extra M-term is induced by homogenization.

## Chapter 3

# Homogenization of an Anelastic Stokes System arising from the Lake Equations

In this chapter, we will study the Homogenization of an Anelastic Stokes System arising from the Lake Equations. This is the analogue of the Stokes equation for the lake equation where the eddy viscosity coefficient  $\nu = 1$ , turbulent drag coefficient  $\eta = 0$  and the nonlinear term  $\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})$  is replaced by  $-\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$ . In Section 3.1, we introduce a two-dimensional viscous lake equation and deduce some important identities. In Section 3.2, we discuss the anelastic Stokes equation with drift term and prove the existence of the weak solution to the boundary value problem of the anelastic Stokes system using Lax-Milgram Theorem. In Section 3.3, we study the homogenization of the anelastic Stokes equation with drift term and give the homogenization result.

#### 3.1 Introduction

We consider the two-dimensional viscous lake equations

$$\partial_t(b\boldsymbol{u}) + \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}) + b\eta \boldsymbol{u} + b\nabla h = \operatorname{div}(\nu b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u})) + b\boldsymbol{f},$$
 (3.1.1)

$$\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \tag{3.1.2}$$

for  $(\boldsymbol{x},t) = (x_1, x_2, t) \in \Omega \times (0, \infty)$  with  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , a bounded and smooth domain. The vector field  $\boldsymbol{u} = (u_1, u_2)^{\mathrm{T}}$  is a function of  $(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+$ denoting the fluid velocity, the scalar function  $h = h(\boldsymbol{x}, t)$  stands for the surface height,  $\boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}, t)$  is the wind forcing defined over  $\Omega \times [0, \infty)$ ,  $\boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} = (u_i u_j)$ , and

$$\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}) = 2D(\boldsymbol{u}) - \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}) I$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \partial_1 u_1 - \partial_2 u_2 & \partial_1 u_2 + \partial_2 u_1 \\ \partial_1 u_2 + \partial_2 u_1 & -\partial_1 u_1 + \partial_2 u_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.1.3)

where I is the 2 × 2 identity matrix and  $D(\boldsymbol{u}) = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}})$  is the deformation tensor. Here  $\nu(\boldsymbol{x})$  and  $\eta(\boldsymbol{x})$  are positive eddy viscosity coefficient and a non-negative turbulent drag coefficient defined over  $\Omega$ , the bottom function  $b = b(\boldsymbol{x})$  is a given smooth function to denote the depth of the basin, which is assumed to be non-degenerate, i.e., that there exist two positive constants  $b_1$  and  $b_2$  such that

$$0 < b_1 \leqslant b(\boldsymbol{x}) \leqslant b_2, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \overline{\Omega}.$$
 (3.1.4)

This means that lakes and oceans have vertical lateral boundaries, like swimming pools. The initial condition is assumed to be weighted incompressible

$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x},0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}_0) = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega.$$
 (3.1.5)

We also impose the Navier boundary conditions as

$$\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \quad \nu \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega, \quad (3.1.6)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{x})$  and  $\boldsymbol{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x})$  are the outward unit normal and a unit tangent to  $\partial\Omega$  at  $\boldsymbol{x}$  and  $\beta(\boldsymbol{x})$  is a non-negative turbulent boundary drag coefficient defined on  $\partial\Omega$ . (3.1.6) are usually called the (general) Navier boundary conditions, which were first used by Navier in 1827 (see [7, 42]) and mean that there is a stagnant layer of fluid close to the wall allowing a fluid to slip, and the slip velocity is proportional to the shear stress. Since *b* depends on  $\boldsymbol{x}$  only,  $b = b(\boldsymbol{x})$  and satisfies (3.1.2), assuming  $\boldsymbol{f} = 0$ , we can rewrite (3.1.1)–(3.1.3) as

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{u} + (\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{u} + \eta \boldsymbol{u} + \nabla h = b^{-1} \operatorname{div}(\nu b \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u})), \quad \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \quad (3.1.7)$$

for  $(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T = \Omega \times [0, T)$ . This system has been derived in [28, 36, 37] to model the evolution of the vertical averaged horizontal component of the three-dimensional velocity to the incompressible Euler equations confined to a shallow basin with varying bottom topography.

Notice that we have the identity

$$2 \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}) - \nabla(b|\boldsymbol{u}|^2) = \begin{bmatrix} 2\partial_2(bu_1u_2) + \partial_1(bu_1^2) - \partial_1(bu_2^2) \\ 2\partial_1(bu_1u_2) + \partial_2(bu_2^2) - \partial_2(bu_1^2) \end{bmatrix} . \quad (3.1.8)$$

Using the *b*-weighted divergence free condition  $\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0$ , the first and second components of (3.1.8) can be rewritten respectively as

$$\begin{cases} 2\partial_2(bu_1u_2) + \partial_1(bu_1^2) - \partial_1(bu_2^2) = -|\boldsymbol{u}|^2 \partial_1 b - 2b^2 u_2 \omega_b \\ 2\partial_1(bu_1u_2) + \partial_2(bu_2^2) - \partial_2(bu_1^2) = -|\boldsymbol{u}|^2 \partial_2 b + 2b^2 u_1 \omega_b \end{cases}$$
(3.1.9)

where

$$\omega_b = \frac{1}{b} \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u}) = \frac{1}{b} \nabla \times \boldsymbol{u} = \frac{1}{b} (\partial_1 u_2 - \partial_2 u_1)$$
(3.1.10)

is the potential vorticity associated with the lake equation (3.1.1)–(3.1.2). Therefore (3.1.8) can be rewritten as

$$2\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}\otimes\boldsymbol{u}) - \nabla(b|\boldsymbol{u}|^2) = -|\boldsymbol{u}|^2\nabla b + 2b^2\omega_b\boldsymbol{u}^\perp$$
  
$$= -|\boldsymbol{u}|^2\nabla b + 2b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u})J\boldsymbol{u}$$
(3.1.11)

where

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \boldsymbol{u}^{\perp} = J\boldsymbol{u} = \begin{bmatrix} -u_2 \\ u_1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.1.12)

We can extend (3.1.11) to any two *b*-weighted divergence free vector functions  $\boldsymbol{u}$  and  $\boldsymbol{v}$ , i.e.,  $\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{v}) = 0$ ;

$$2\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}\otimes\boldsymbol{v}) - \nabla(b\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}) = \begin{bmatrix} 2\partial_2(bu_1v_2) + \partial_1(bu_1v_1) - \partial_1(bu_2v_2) \\ 2\partial_1(bu_2v_1) + \partial_2(bu_2v_2) - \partial_2(bu_1v_1) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= -(\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\boldsymbol{v})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u})J\boldsymbol{v} - b(\nabla\boldsymbol{v})\boldsymbol{u} + b(\nabla\boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}.$$
(3.1.13)

Note that the extra term  $-|\boldsymbol{u}|^2 \nabla b$  in (3.1.11) (or  $-(\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}) \nabla b$  in (3.1.13)) shows the nonlinear effect induced by the varying topography of the lake equation. When  $\boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{u}$ , we have

$$-(\nabla \boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{u} = (\nabla \times \boldsymbol{u})\boldsymbol{u}^{\perp} = \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u})J\boldsymbol{u} \qquad (3.1.14)$$

and (3.1.13) will reduce to (3.1.11). In particular, when b = 1,  $\omega_b = \omega = \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u})$ , (3.1.11) and (3.1.13) will become

$$2\operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}\otimes\boldsymbol{u}) - \nabla(|\boldsymbol{u}|^2) = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_1 & 2\partial_2 \\ -\partial_2 & 2\partial_1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u_1^2 - u_2^2 \\ u_1u_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
  
$$= 2\omega \boldsymbol{u}^{\perp} = 2\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u}) J \boldsymbol{u}$$
  
(3.1.15)

and

$$2\operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{u}\otimes\boldsymbol{v})-\nabla(\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\boldsymbol{v})=\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{u})J\boldsymbol{v}-(\nabla\boldsymbol{v})\boldsymbol{u}+(\nabla\boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}\quad(3.1.16)$$

respectively.

In this chapter, we employ the following notations. The weighted square integrable space  $L_b^2(\Omega)$  consists of all measurable functions  $\boldsymbol{f}$  that satisfy

$$\int_{\Omega} |\boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x})|^2 b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} < \infty.$$

The resulting  $L^2_b(\Omega)$ -norm of  $\boldsymbol{f}$  is defined by

$$\|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} = \left(\int_{\Omega} |\boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x})|^2 b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x}\right)^{rac{1}{2}}.$$

The space  $L_b^2(\Omega)$  is a Hilbert space equipped with the following inner product

$$\langle \boldsymbol{f}, \gamma \rangle_b = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \gamma b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x}.$$

The weighted Sobolev space  $H_b^1(\Omega)$  consists of all functions  $\boldsymbol{f}$  with weak derivatives  $\nabla \boldsymbol{f}$  satisfying

$$\|oldsymbol{f}\|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} = \left(\int_\Omega (|oldsymbol{f}(oldsymbol{x})|^2 + |
abla oldsymbol{f}(oldsymbol{x})|^2) b(oldsymbol{x}) doldsymbol{x}
ight)^rac{1}{2} < \infty.$$

We also introduce the spaces  $\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)$ ,  $\mathbb{V}_b(\Omega)$  and  $\mathbb{V}_b^{-1}(\Omega)$  defined by

$$\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{u} \in L_b^2(\Omega) \mid \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega \right\},\$$

$$\mathbb{V}_b(\Omega) = \left\{ oldsymbol{u} \in H^1_b(\Omega) \mid \operatorname{div}(boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \quad oldsymbol{u} \cdot oldsymbol{n} = 0, \quad oldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega 
ight\},$$

and

$$\mathbb{V}_b^{-1}(\Omega) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{u} \in H_b^{-1}(\Omega) \mid \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega \right\}.$$

# 3.2 Anelastic Stokes equation with drift term

One can extend Tartar's pioneer work on the homogenization of Stokes equation perturbed by a drift [57, 58] to the lake equation;

$$-\operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) - \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + b\nabla p^{\varepsilon} = b\boldsymbol{f}, \quad (3.2.1)$$

$$\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \tag{3.2.2}$$

with the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega.$$
(3.2.3)

This is the analogue of the Stokes equation for the lake equation (3.1.1)– (3.1.3) where the eddy viscosity coefficient  $\nu = 1$ , turbulent drag coefficient  $\eta = 0$  and the nonlinear term  $\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})$  is replaced by

$$-\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$$
(3.2.4)

based on the identities (3.1.8)–(3.1.16). Here we assume  $v^{\varepsilon} \in L_b^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . Note that from (3.1.3) we have

$$div(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) = div \begin{bmatrix} b(\partial_{1}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - \partial_{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) & b(\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}) \\ b(\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}) & b(-\partial_{1}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \partial_{1}[b(\partial_{1}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - \partial_{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon})] + \partial_{2}[b(\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon})] \\ \partial_{1}[b(\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon})] + \partial_{2}[b(-\partial_{1}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon})] \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.2.5)
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \nabla b \cdot \nabla u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \nabla b \cdot \nabla^{\perp}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + b\Delta u_{1}^{\varepsilon} \\ \nabla b \cdot \nabla u_{2}^{\varepsilon} - \nabla b \cdot \nabla^{\perp}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + b\Delta u_{2}^{\varepsilon} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \nabla b \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \nabla^{\perp}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\perp} \right) + b\Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$$

where  $\nabla^{\perp} = J\nabla = \begin{bmatrix} -\partial_2 \\ \partial_1 \end{bmatrix}$  is the orthogonal gradient then  $\operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} = \nabla b \cdot (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} - \nabla^{\perp}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\perp}) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} + b\Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$   $= \nabla b \cdot (v_1^{\varepsilon} \nabla u_1^{\varepsilon} + v_2^{\varepsilon} \nabla u_2^{\varepsilon}) + \nabla b \cdot (v_1^{\varepsilon} \nabla^{\perp} u_2^{\varepsilon} - v_2^{\varepsilon} \nabla^{\perp} u_1^{\varepsilon})$   $+ b(v_1^{\varepsilon} \Delta u_1^{\varepsilon} + v_2^{\varepsilon} \Delta u_2^{\varepsilon}).$ (3.2.6)

We will integrate (3.2.6) separately. First

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla b \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} = \int_{\Omega} \nabla b \cdot \Big(\sum_{j=1}^{2} v_{j}^{\varepsilon} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon}\Big) d\boldsymbol{x} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \cdot v_{j}^{\varepsilon} \nabla b d\boldsymbol{x}.$$
(3.2.7)

Next, since  $\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) = 0$ , we have

$$-\left(\nabla b \cdot \nabla^{\perp}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\perp}\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} = -\nabla b \cdot \left(v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \nabla^{\perp}(-u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) + v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \nabla^{\perp} u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\right)$$

$$= -v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} b \partial_{2} u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} b \partial_{1} u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} b \partial_{2} u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} b \partial_{1} u_{1}^{\varepsilon}$$

$$= -(v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} b \partial_{2} u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} b \partial_{2} u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) + v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} b \partial_{2} u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} b \partial_{1} u_{2}^{\varepsilon}$$

$$+ v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} b \partial_{2} u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - (v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} b \partial_{1} u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} b \partial_{1} u_{1}^{\varepsilon}) + v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} b \partial_{1} u_{1}^{\varepsilon}$$

$$= -(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla b)(\partial_{2} u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1} u_{1}^{\varepsilon}) + \partial_{1} b(v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} u_{1}^{\varepsilon})$$

$$+ \partial_{2} b(v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} u_{2}^{\varepsilon})$$

$$= b(\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})(\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) + \partial_{1} b(v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} u_{1}^{\varepsilon}) + \partial_{2} b(v_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{1} u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + v_{2}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} u_{2}^{\varepsilon})$$

$$= b(\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})(\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(b \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) - b(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} : (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

$$(3.2.8)$$

Here A: B denotes the matrix product

$$A: B \stackrel{\text{def}}{\equiv} \operatorname{tr}(AB^{\mathrm{T}}) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} a_{ij} b_{ij} \,. \tag{3.2.9}$$

Integrating (3.2.8) over  $\Omega$  and using the divergence theorem we have

$$-\int_{\Omega} \nabla b \cdot \nabla^{\perp} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\perp} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} = \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) b d\boldsymbol{x} -\int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} : (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} b d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\partial \Omega} (b \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla ds .$$
(3.2.10)

Since  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla = \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ , we have (see [32] Lemma 4.1)

$$(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\nabla\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})\cdot\nabla = -\kappa\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} = -\kappa(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{\tau})(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{\tau}), \qquad \boldsymbol{x}\in\partial\Omega \ (3.2.11)$$

where  $\kappa(\boldsymbol{x})$  is the curvature of  $\partial\Omega$  at  $\boldsymbol{x}$ , and thus (3.2.10) becomes

$$-\int_{\Omega} \nabla b \cdot \nabla^{\perp} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\perp} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} = \int_{\Omega} b(\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) b d\boldsymbol{x}$$
$$-\int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} : (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} b d\boldsymbol{x} - \kappa \int_{\partial \Omega} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b ds.$$
(3.2.12)

Similarly, by Green's identity we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} b\Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} bv_{j}^{\varepsilon} \Delta u_{j}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} bv_{j}^{\varepsilon} (\operatorname{div} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon}) d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} bv_{j}^{\varepsilon} (\operatorname{div} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon}) + \nabla (bv_{j}^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} - \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla (bv_{j}^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} (bv_{j}^{\varepsilon} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon}) d\boldsymbol{x} - \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \cdot (b \nabla v_{j}^{\varepsilon} + v_{j}^{\varepsilon} \nabla b) d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} (b\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) d\boldsymbol{x} - \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} (b \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla v_{j}^{\varepsilon} + \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \cdot v_{j}^{\varepsilon} \nabla b) d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} (b\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla ds - \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \partial_{i} u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{i} v_{j}^{\varepsilon} b d\boldsymbol{x} - \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \cdot v_{j}^{\varepsilon} \nabla b d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla b ds - \int_{\Omega} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} b d\boldsymbol{x} - \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \cdot v_{j}^{\varepsilon} \nabla b d\boldsymbol{x} \end{split}$$

which becomes

$$\int_{\Omega} b\Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x} = -\kappa \int_{\partial\Omega} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b ds - \int_{\Omega} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} b d\boldsymbol{x} \\ -\sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \cdot v_{j}^{\varepsilon} \nabla b d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$(3.2.13)$$

after using (3.2.11) again. Now adding (3.2.7), (3.2.12) and (3.2.13) together and using the identity

$$\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) = \operatorname{tr} \left[ \left( 2D(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) - \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} I \right) \left( 2D(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) - \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} I \right)^{\mathrm{T}} \right] = 4D(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : D(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) - 2\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} = 2 \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} : (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} - \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \right) (3.2.14)$$

we have

$$-\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} d\boldsymbol{x}$$
  
=  $-\int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) b d\boldsymbol{x} + 2 \int_{\partial\Omega} \kappa (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b ds$   
+  $\int_{\Omega} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} b d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} : (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} b d\boldsymbol{x}$   
=  $\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) b d\boldsymbol{x} + 2 \int_{\partial\Omega} \kappa (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b ds$ . (3.2.15)

Therefore we can define the bilinear form  $a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) : \mathbb{V}_b \times \mathbb{V}_b \mapsto \mathbb{R}$  as

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) b d\boldsymbol{x} + 2 \int_{\partial \Omega} \kappa(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b ds . \quad (3.2.16)$$

Since

$$\frac{1}{2}\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}):\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})=2D(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}):D(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})-(\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{2}$$
$$=(\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}+\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon})^{2}+(\partial_{1}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}-\partial_{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon})^{2} \ge 0,$$

it is easy to see that  $a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})$  is coercive ([31], [36], [55]);

$$\begin{aligned} a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) b d\boldsymbol{x} + 2 \int_{\partial\Omega} \kappa(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b ds \\ &\geqslant b_1 \left( \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) d\boldsymbol{x} + 2 \int_{\partial\Omega} \kappa |\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}|^2 ds \right) \\ &= b_1 \int_{\Omega} (\partial_1 u_2^{\varepsilon} + \partial_2 u_1^{\varepsilon})^2 + (\partial_1 u_1^{\varepsilon} - \partial_2 u_2^{\varepsilon})^2 d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &+ 2b_1 \int_{\partial\Omega} \kappa |\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}|^2 ds \\ &= b_1 ||\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}||_{L_b^2(\Omega)}^2 - b_1 \int_{\partial\Omega} \kappa |\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}|^2 ds + 2b_1 \int_{\partial\Omega} \kappa |\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}|^2 ds \\ &= b_1 ||\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}||_{L_b^2(\Omega)}^2 + c_1 ||\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}||_{L_b^2(\Omega)}^2 \\ &\geqslant C ||\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}||_{H_b^1(\Omega)}^2, \end{aligned}$$

where  $C = \min\{b_1, c_1\}.$ 

From the representation formula (3.1.13)

$$b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} = 2\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\otimes\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) - \nabla(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) + (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b + b(\nabla\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - b(\nabla\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$$
(3.2.18)

we define the integrals  $I_i, i = 1, \cdots, 4$  by

$$I_{1} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla \log b \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x},$$

$$I_{2} = -2 \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x},$$

$$I_{3} = \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x},$$

$$I_{4} = \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x}.$$
(3.2.19)

Therefore the variational formulation of (3.2.1)-(3.2.3) is given by

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) + (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = L(\boldsymbol{\varphi})$$
(3.2.20)

where  $(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) = I_1 + I_2 + I_3 + I_4$  is the trilinear form and the linear form  $L : \mathbb{V}_b \mapsto \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$L(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{\equiv} \langle \boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle_b = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (3.2.21)$$

for all  $\varphi \in H_b^1(\Omega)$  satisfying  $\operatorname{div}(b\varphi) = 0$  in  $\Omega$  and  $\varphi \cdot \nabla = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ . For  $u^{\varepsilon}, \varphi \in \mathbb{V}_b$ , by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and trace theorem we have

$$|a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi})| \leq 2 \|D(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \|D(\boldsymbol{\varphi})\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} + 2 \|\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \|\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} + 2 \|\kappa\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\partial\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\partial\Omega)} \leq C' \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}$$

$$(3.2.22)$$

Now we need to estimate the trilinear term  $(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi})$ . Using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and Poincaré inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} |I_1| = &\frac{1}{2} \left| \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla \log b \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \\ \leqslant &\frac{1}{2} \| \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \| \nabla \log b \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^1_b(\Omega)} \\ \leqslant &C_1 \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} , \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} |I_2| &= \left| 2 \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \leqslant 2 \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \| \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \\ &\leqslant \| \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \| \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \\ &\leqslant C_2 \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} \,, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |I_3| &= \left| \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \leqslant \| \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \| \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \\ &\leqslant C_3 \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{split} |I_4| &= \left| \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \leqslant \| \nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^2_b(\Omega)} \\ &\leqslant C_4 \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{H^1_b(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$|(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi})| \leq C_0 \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1_b(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{H^1_b(\Omega)}.$$
 (3.2.23)

Therefore  $B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) = a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) + (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi})$  is bounded. Let  $\boldsymbol{\varphi} = \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in (3.2.23) we get

$$|(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})| \leq C_0 \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1_b(\Omega)}^2.$$

Choosing  $\widetilde{C} = C - C_0 > 0$ , combine with the coercivity of  $a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})$ , we have

$$B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \geqslant \widetilde{C} \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{H^{1}_{b}(\Omega)}.$$
(3.2.24)

Therefore  $B(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi})$  is coercive.

Then, according to the Lax-Milgram theorem there exists a unique solution  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  of equation (3.2.1) in  $H_b^1(\Omega)$ . To determine the existence of the pressure  $p^{\varepsilon}$ , we take the divergence of (3.2.1), then the pressure  $p^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies the nonhomogeneous strictly elliptic equation of the divergence form

$$\operatorname{div}(b\nabla p^{\varepsilon}) = \operatorname{div}\left(\operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) + \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b - b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + b\boldsymbol{f}\right) \equiv F.$$
(3.2.25)

Since  $u^{\varepsilon} \in H_b^1(\Omega)$ , it follows that  $\operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) \in H_b^{-1}(\Omega)$  and  $F \in H_b^{-2}(\Omega)$ . By regularity theorem of elliptic equations (see Theorem 9.15 in[27]), the space of  $p^{\varepsilon}$  has two more regularities than the space of F,

then we can assert that there exists a unique solution  $p^{\varepsilon} \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ .

Thus we have the following result:

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a smooth simply connected bounded domain with nonnegative curvature  $\kappa(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0$  for all  $\mathbf{x} \in \partial \Omega$ . For  $\varepsilon > 0$ fixed there exists at least one weak solution  $(\mathbf{u}^{\varepsilon}, p^{\varepsilon})$  to the boundary value problem of the anelastic Stokes system (3.2.1)–(3.2.3).

## 3.3 Homogenization of the Anelastic Stokes Equation

In this section we will find the limit equation of weak formulation (3.2.20) for equation (3.2.1)-(3.2.3) when  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

First, using the coercivity of the bilinear form and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we get the energy estimate

$$C \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) + (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = |\langle \boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \rangle|_{b}$$
$$\leq \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \leq \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)},$$

that is,

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)}^2 \le C_1 \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L_b^2(\Omega)}.$$
(3.3.1)

So we can deduce that  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  is bounded in  $H_b^1(\Omega)$  and weakly converges, up to a subsequence  $\{\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ , to a function  $\boldsymbol{u}$  in  $H_b^1(\Omega)$ , due to the reflexivity of the Sobolev space  $H_b^1(\Omega)$ 

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u}$$
 weakly in  $H^1_b(\Omega)$ . (3.3.2)

Furthermore, it follows that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{u} \quad \text{strongly} \quad \text{in } L_{b}^{2}(\Omega) \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\text{w}}{\longrightarrow} \nabla \boldsymbol{u} \quad \text{weakly} \quad \text{in } L_{b}^{2}(\Omega) \\ \Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\text{w}}{\longrightarrow} \Delta \boldsymbol{u} \quad \text{weakly} \quad \text{in } H_{b}^{-1}(\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(3.3.3)

For  $p^{\varepsilon} \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ , since the space  $L^2_{loc}(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$  is reflexive, we find

$$p^{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{w}} p$$
 weakly in  $L^2_{loc}(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ . (3.3.4)

For  $\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \in L_{b}^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , since  $L_{b}^{\infty}(\Omega) \subset L_{b}^{r}(\Omega)$  for  $1 \leq r \leq \infty$ 

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{v} & \text{weakly} & \text{in } L_b^r(\Omega) \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \nabla \boldsymbol{v} & \text{weakly} & \text{in } W_b^{-1,r}(\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(3.3.5)

By convergences (3.3.3)–(3.3.5), we can derive the following convergence

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla b \cdot (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{\varphi}) d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} \nabla b \cdot (\nabla \boldsymbol{u} \boldsymbol{\varphi}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (3.3.6)$$

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla b \cdot [\nabla^{\perp} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\perp} \boldsymbol{\varphi}] d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} \nabla b \cdot [\nabla^{\perp} (\boldsymbol{u})^{\perp} \boldsymbol{\varphi}] d\boldsymbol{x}$$
(3.3.7)

and

$$\int_{\Omega} b\Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} b\Delta \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x}.$$
(3.3.8)

Combining (3.3.6)–(3.3.8) together we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u})) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x}.$$
(3.3.9)

In the same way, we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla b \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}) \nabla b \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x}.$$
(3.3.10)

We now turn to the third term  $b \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in (3.2.1). By the representation formula (3.2.18)

$$b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} = 2\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\otimes\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) - \nabla(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) + (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b + b(\nabla\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - b(\nabla\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}.$$
(3.3.11)

It is easy to deduce the following convergences

$$\int_{\Omega} 2\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} 2\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x}, \quad (3.3.12)$$

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla (b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} \nabla (b\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (3.3.13)$$

$$\int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla b \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}) \nabla b \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (3.3.14)$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b \, d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}) \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b \, d\boldsymbol{x}. \tag{3.3.15}$$

Since the weak convergence of  $\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{w}{\rightharpoonup} \nabla \boldsymbol{u}$  in  $L_b^2(\Omega)$  and  $\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{w}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{v}$  in  $L_b^r(\Omega)$  do not guarantee the convergence of the product  $b(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$ . So we have to proceed to determine the limit of  $b(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$ .

According to Tartar's oscillating test function method, we construct a similar homogenized equation using the test function  $w_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$  with  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^2$ 

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})) + b \operatorname{div}((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) + b\nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega\\ \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega\\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(3.3.16)

First, we write down the weak formulation of (3.3.16)

$$a(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \langle \boldsymbol{f}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle_{b}, \qquad (3.3.17)$$

where the bilinear form

$$a(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) b \, d\boldsymbol{x} + 2 \int_{\partial \Omega} \kappa(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{\varphi} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b \, ds,$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{f}^{arepsilon} = \operatorname{div} ig( (\boldsymbol{v}^{arepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda} ig).$$

Using the result (3.2.17) in Section 3.2 we can obtain the coercivity of the bilinear form

$$a(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) b \, d\boldsymbol{x} + 2 \int_{\partial\Omega} \kappa(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b \, d\boldsymbol{x}$$
  
$$\geq C \, \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} \,. \tag{3.3.18}$$

Meanwhile, we have

$$|a(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi})| \leq C_1 \left\| \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)} \left\| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \right\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)}.$$
 (3.3.19)

Therefore by the Lax-Milgram Theorem there exists a unique solution  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \in H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)$  for (3.3.16). Moreover, we have the energy estimate

$$C \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq a(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) = |\langle \boldsymbol{f}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \rangle_{b}|$$
  
$$\leq \|\boldsymbol{f}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \leq \|\boldsymbol{f}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}, \qquad (3.3.20)$$

that is,

$$\|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)} \leq C' \|\boldsymbol{f}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)}.$$
(3.3.21)

In addition, since  $\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{v}$  in  $L^{r}_{b}(\Omega)$ , it follows that

$$\|\boldsymbol{f}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}_{b}(\Omega)} = \left\|\operatorname{div}\left((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}\right)\right\|_{L^{2}_{b}(\Omega)} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
(3.3.22)

Therefore

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0$$
 weakly in  $H_b^1(\Omega)$ . (3.3.23)

In this way

$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x} = -\int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) : (\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}) b \, d\boldsymbol{x} \to 0,$$

and so

div
$$(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0$$
 weakly in  $H_b^{-1}(\Omega)$ . (3.3.24)

Then for  $q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ , it follows that

$$b\nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})) - b \operatorname{div}((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \stackrel{w}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \quad \text{weakly in } H_{b}^{-1}(\Omega),$$

and

$$\nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \quad \text{weakly in } H_b^{-1}(\Omega).$$

According to the regularity theorem of elliptic equations, we have the convergence of  $q^{\varepsilon}$ 

$$q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{w}} 0$$
 weakly in  $L^2_{loc}(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$ . (3.3.25)

Let  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  be a scarlar function with  $\nabla \varphi = 0$ . Following the Tartar's method we put  $\varphi \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$  as test function in equation (3.2.1) and  $\varphi \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in equation (3.3.16), using the fact that  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0$  we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) \varphi b \, d\boldsymbol{x} - 2 \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) \varphi b \, d\boldsymbol{x} = o(1)$$
(3.3.26)

and

$$\int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \varphi b \, d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\Omega} \left( (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda} \right) : \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \varphi b \, d\boldsymbol{x} = o(1). \quad (3.3.27)$$

In addition, it is fact that

$$oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon\otimesoldsymbol{v}^arepsilon: (
abla oldsymbol{w}^arepsilon) = (
abla oldsymbol{w}^arepsilon)^{
m T}oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon\cdotoldsymbol{u}^arepsilon \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\otimesoldsymbol{\lambda}): 
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon = (
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda} \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\otimesoldsymbol{\lambda}): 
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon = (
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda} \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\otimesoldsymbol{\lambda}): 
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon = (
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda} \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}): 
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon = (
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda} \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}): 
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon = (
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda} \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}): 
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon = (
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda} \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}): 
abla oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon = (
abla oldsymbol{u}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda} \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda}): 
abla oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon = (
abla oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon)^{
m T}(oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v})\cdotoldsymbol{\lambda} \ (oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-oldsymbol{v}^arepsilon-olds$$

In consequence, we rewrite (3.3.26) and (3.3.27) as

$$\int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) \varphi b \, d\boldsymbol{x} - 2 \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \varphi b \, d\boldsymbol{x} = o(1) \quad (3.3.28)$$

$$\int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \varphi b d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda} \varphi b d\boldsymbol{x} = o(1). \quad (3.3.29)$$

The equation (3.3.28) shows that

$$\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}): \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 2(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \quad \text{weakly in} \quad \mathcal{D}'(\Omega).$$
(3.3.30)

The task is now to determine the convergence of  $(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$ . The convergence  $\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{W}}{\longrightarrow} 0$  in  $L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)$  and  $\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{W}}{\longrightarrow} \boldsymbol{v}$  in  $L_{b}^{r}(\Omega)$  do not guarantee the convergence of  $(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$ . Indeed, we have the following convergence instead.

**Lemma 3.3.1.** There exists a positive definite symmetric matrix-valued function M such that (up to a subsequence)

$$\begin{cases} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \cdot \boldsymbol{v} + M\boldsymbol{\lambda} = M\boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad weakly \ in \ L_{b}^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(\Omega) \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M\boldsymbol{\lambda} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu} \quad weakly * in \quad \mathcal{M}(\Omega) \ and \ L_{b}^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(\Omega) \end{cases}$$
(3.3.31)

for  $\boldsymbol{\lambda}, \boldsymbol{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . Moreover, since  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}$  in  $L^2_b(\Omega)$ , we have

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad weakly * in \quad \mathcal{M}(\Omega) \text{ and } L_{b}^{\frac{r}{1+r}}(\Omega).$$
(3.3.32)

Then we conclude from (3.3.30) that

$$\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}): \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 2M\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad \text{weakly } \ast \text{ in } \quad \mathcal{M}(\Omega) \text{ and } L_{b}^{\frac{r}{1+r}}(\Omega).$$
(3.3.33)

On the other hand, the equation (3.3.29) shows that the term

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v})\cdot\boldsymbol{\lambda}$$

has the same weak limit with  $\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}): \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})$ , hence

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v})\cdot\boldsymbol{\lambda}\stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 2M\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad \text{weakly } * \text{ in } \quad \mathcal{M}(\Omega) \text{ and } L_{b}^{\frac{r}{1+r}}(\Omega),$$

$$(3.3.34)$$

thus

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 2M\boldsymbol{u}$$
 weakly in  $L_{b}^{\frac{r}{1+r}}(\Omega)$ . (3.3.35)

Consequently,

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} = (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 2M\boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}. \quad (3.3.36)$$

Moreover, since the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega,$$

are linear, the weakly compactness of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  in  $H_b^1(\Omega)$  guarantees the passage of limit of Navier boundary conditions, in this way

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0$$
 (3.3.37)

and

$$\boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla + \beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla + \beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = 0.$$
(3.3.38)

Finally we get:

**Theorem 3.3.2.** The solution  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  of (3.2.1) converges weakly in  $H_b^1(\Omega)$  to the solution  $\boldsymbol{u}$  of the Brinkman equation

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u})) - \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\boldsymbol{v})\nabla b + b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v})J\boldsymbol{u} + b\nabla p + 2M\boldsymbol{u} = b\boldsymbol{f} \\ \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \end{cases}$$

with the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega,$$

where M is the positive definite symmetric matrix-valued function defined by

$$\begin{cases} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \cdot \boldsymbol{v} + M \boldsymbol{\lambda} = M \boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad weakly \ in \ L_{b}^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(\Omega) \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M \boldsymbol{\lambda} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu} \quad weakly * in \quad \mathcal{M}(\Omega) \ and \ L_{b}^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(\Omega) \end{cases}$$

for  $\boldsymbol{\lambda}, \boldsymbol{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ .

## Chapter 4

## Homogenization of the Viscous Lake Equations

In this chapter, we discuss the viscous lake equation with the Navier boundary conditions and the initial condition. In Section 4.1, we give the proof of the existence and uniqueness of the solution of lake equation using Faedo-Galerkin method. In Section 4.2, we study the homogenization of the viscous lake equation by constructing a homogenized equation of the test function  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$  according to Tartar's method.

### 4.1 Existence and Uniqueness of the Solution for the Viscous Lake equation

In this section we discuss the viscous lake equation

$$\partial_t (b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) - \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla b + b \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + b \nabla p^{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) + b\boldsymbol{f},$$
(4.1.1)

$$\operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, \qquad (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T \tag{4.1.2}$$

with the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \qquad (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_{T}$$

$$(4.1.3)$$

and the initial condition

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},0) = \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega$$
 (4.1.4)

where  $Q_T = \Omega \times [0, T)$  with  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , a bounded and smooth domain, and  $S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0, T)$  for all  $0 < T < \infty$ .

We first state the existence and uniqueness result for (4.1.1).

**Theorem 4.1.1.** Assume  $\mathbf{f} \in L^2(Q_T)$ ,  $\mathbf{v}^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(Q_T)$ , and  $\mathbf{u}_0^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\Omega)$ . We define the solution space associated with (4.1.1);

$$V^{2}(Q_{T}) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{u} \in L^{2}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)), \quad \boldsymbol{u}' = \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial t} \in L^{2}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}^{-1}(\Omega)) \right\}$$

which is a Banach space with respect to the norm

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{V^{2}(Q_{T})} = \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^{2}([0,T);\mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega))} + \|\boldsymbol{u}'\|_{L^{2}([0,T);\mathbb{V}_{b}^{-1}(\Omega))}.$$
(4.1.5)

Then there exists a pair of function  $(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, p^{\varepsilon})$  such that

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \in V^2(Q_T) \quad and \quad \nabla p^{\varepsilon} \in W^{-1,\infty}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_b^{-1}(\Omega))$$
 (4.1.6)

and satisfies the weak formulation of (4.1.1) in the sense of distribution

$$-\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_0^T a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{\varphi})\psi(t)dt + \int_0^T (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}))\psi(t)dt = \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle_b,$$
(4.1.7)

for all  $T \in (0,\infty)$  and for all  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  with  $div(b\varphi) = 0$  in  $\Omega$  and  $\varphi \cdot \nabla = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , and  $\psi \in \mathcal{D}[0,T)$ , where  $\psi(0) = 1$  and  $\psi(T) = 0$ . Here the bilinear form  $a(\mathbf{u}^{\varepsilon}, \varphi)$  is defined by

$$a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} + 2 \int_{\partial \Omega} \kappa(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{\varphi} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) ds ,$$
(4.1.8)

and the trilinear form

$$\begin{aligned} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\int_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})\nabla b\cdot\boldsymbol{\varphi}d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Omega}b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})J\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{\varphi}d\boldsymbol{x}, \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, there exists a constant c depending on  $\Omega$  and T such that

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{V^{2}(Q_{T})} + \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T);L^{2}(\Omega))} \leqslant c \left(\|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^{2}(Q_{T})}\right). \quad (4.1.9)$$

We will prove the existence and uniqueness theorem for the solution for the viscous lake equation. The strategy of the proof is motivated by Leray's seminal work on the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations [35], see also [61]. It proceeds in seven steps. We can construct a sequence of approximate solutions by any method that yields a consistent weak formulation and an energy relation. We will employ the Faedo-Galerkin method to approximate our drift Stokes equation by a sequence of Cauchy problems for suitable systems of ODEs in finite dimensional spaces.

# **Step 1:** Construction of approximate solution $\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}$ by the Faedo-Galerkin method.

Take a countable orthonormal basis  $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  of the space  $H_b^1(\Omega) \cap C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . For any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , we define the approximate solution by eigenfunction expansion

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_{im}^{\varepsilon}(t) \boldsymbol{e}_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}). \qquad (4.1.10)$$

The coefficients  $c_{im}^{\varepsilon}(t)$  will satisfy the *m* nonlinear ordinary differential equations by inserting  $\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}$ ,  $\boldsymbol{e}_{i}$  for  $i, k = 1, 2, \cdots, m$ , in (4.1.1)-(4.1.8).

Let now introduce, for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , the finite dimensional approximate problem for (4.1.1)

$$\langle \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(t_{2}), \boldsymbol{e}_{i} \rangle_{b} - \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(t_{1}), \boldsymbol{e}_{i} \rangle_{b} = I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3}$$

$$\equiv -\int_{0}^{T} a(\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{e}_{i}) dt - \int_{0}^{T} (\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{e}_{i}(\boldsymbol{x})) dt + \int_{Q_{T}} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \boldsymbol{e}_{i} d\boldsymbol{x} dt$$

$$(4.1.11)$$

in  $\mathcal{D}'[0,T)$ , for all  $0 < T < \infty$  and for all  $i = 1, \dots, m$  with initial condition

$$\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},0) = \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (4.1.12)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}$  is the orthogonal projection of  $\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}$  onto the space spanned by  $\{\boldsymbol{e}_{1}, \boldsymbol{e}_{2}, \cdots, \boldsymbol{e}_{m}\}$  in  $H_{0}^{1}(\Omega)$ .

From the initial condition in this problem, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_{im}^{\varepsilon}(0) \boldsymbol{e}_{i} = \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(0) = \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{e}_{i} \rangle \boldsymbol{e}_{i},$$

which implies  $c_{im}^{\varepsilon}(0) = \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{e}_i \rangle$ , since  $\{\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{e}_2, \cdots, \boldsymbol{e}_m\}$  are linearly independent.

From classical results concerning Hilbert spaces, we have that

$$oldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{arepsilon}(oldsymbol{x}) o oldsymbol{u}_{0}^{arepsilon}(oldsymbol{x})$$
 strongly in  $L^2(\Omega)$ 

as  $m \to \infty$  so that

$$\|oldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{arepsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}\leqslant \|oldsymbol{u}_0^{arepsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

Moreover, these solutions will satisfy the regularized version of the energy relation (4.1.9) as the equality

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(T)\|_{H(\Omega)}^{2} + C \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{V(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau$$
$$= \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \frac{1}{C} \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{f}(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau.$$
(4.1.13)

Consequently, problem (4.1.11) is a system of m linear ordinary differential equations of the first order with unknowns  $c_{1m}, \dots, c_{mm}$ . By Picard's local existence theory, the system of linear ODEs (4.1.11) has a unique solution on some interval  $(0, t_m), 0 < t_m < T$ . Furthermore, the energy relation (4.1.13) provides a global  $L^2(\Omega)$  bound on the solutions, ensuring that they are global. The detail is referred to [61].

**Step 2:** Show that the sequence  $\{u_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  is a relatively compact set in

$$C([0,T); \mathrm{w-}\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)) \cap \mathrm{w-}L^2_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_b(\Omega)).$$

We deduce from the energy bound (4.1.13) that

$$\{\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}\}_{m}$$
 is bounded in  $L^{\infty}\left([0,T);\mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)\right)$  (4.1.14)

$$\{\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}\}_{m}$$
 is bounded in  $L_{loc}^{2}\left([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)\right)$ . (4.1.15)

Because norm bounded sets are relatively compact in weak-\* topologies, which is the same as the weak topologies on these reflexive spaces, then we obtain from (4.1.15) that

 $\{\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}\}_{m}$  is relatively compact in  $L^{2}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)).$  (4.1.16)

We conclude from the classical compactness argument that there exists a subsequence of  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$ , which is still denoted by  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  and

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}\left([0,T), \mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)\right) \cap L^{2}\left([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)\right)$$

such that

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \quad \text{weakly } \ast \text{ in } \quad L^{\infty}\left([0,T); \mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)\right)$$
$$\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \quad \text{weakly in } \quad L^{2}\left([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)\right).$$
(4.1.17)

The uniform bound (4.1.14) also shows that  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(t)\}$  is a relatively compact set in w- $\mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)$  for all  $t \ge 0$ . However, compactness requires more than just boundedness because of the strong topology over the time variable t. We appeal to the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem, which asserts that  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  is a relatively compact set in v if and only if

- (a)  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(t)\}_{m}$  is a relatively compact set in w- $\mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)$  for all  $t \ge 0$ ;
- (b)  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  is equicontinuous in  $C([0,\infty); \mathrm{w-}\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)).$

Condition (a) is satisfied. In order to establish (b), we will estimate the three integrals  $I_1$ ,  $I_2$  and  $I_3$  of (4.1.11) separately. Let  $B \subset C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ be an enumerable set which is dense in  $\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)$ , then from the energy relation (4.1.13) for any  $e_i \in B$ , due to the boundedness result (3.2.22) in Section 3.2

$$|a(\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{e}_i)| \leq C \|\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{e}_i\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)},$$

using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have

$$|I_{1}| \leq \alpha \|\boldsymbol{e}_{i}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)} d\tau$$
$$\leq \alpha \|\boldsymbol{e}_{i}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)} |t_{2} - t_{1}|^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq C_{1} |t_{2} - t_{1}|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Similarly, from the estimate (3.2.23) in Section 3.2

$$|(\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{e}_{i})| \leq C_{0} \|\boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{e}_{i}\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}$$
(4.1.18)

it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |I_2| &\leq \beta \, \|\boldsymbol{e}_i\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)} \, d\tau \\ &\leq \beta \, \|\boldsymbol{e}_i\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)} \, |t_2 - t_1|^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \Big( \int_0^{\infty} \|\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)}^2 \, d\tau \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq C_2 \, |t_2 - t_1|^{\frac{1}{2}} \, , \end{aligned}$$

For  $I_3$ , we also see that

$$|I_3| \le \|\boldsymbol{e}_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)} |t_2 - t_1|^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|\boldsymbol{f}\|_{L^2_b(\Omega)}^2 dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \le C_3 |t_2 - t_1|^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Collecting the above estimates,

$$|\langle \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(t_{2}), \boldsymbol{e}_{i} \rangle_{b} - \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon}(t_{1}), \boldsymbol{e}_{i} \rangle_{b}| \leq C |t_{2} - t_{1}|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$$

Therefore

$$|\langle \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(t_2), \boldsymbol{e}_i \rangle_b - \langle \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(t_1), \boldsymbol{e}_i \rangle_b| \to 0 \text{ as } |t_2 - t_1| \to 0.$$

Since  $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  forms an enumerable dense subset of  $\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)$ , it follows from the density argument that

$$|\langle u_m^{\varepsilon}(t_2), \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle_b - \langle u_m^{\varepsilon}(t_1), \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle_b| \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |t_2 - t_1| \to 0 \quad (4.1.19)$$

for all  $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in H_b^1(\Omega) \cap C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . This proves the equi-continuity of  $\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}$  in the space  $C([0,T), \text{w-}\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega))$ .

**Step 3:** Show that the sequence  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  is a relatively compact set in

$$L^2_{loc}\left([0,T);\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)\right)$$

endowed with the strong topology.

The proof is based on the following embedding

$$C\left([0,T); \mathrm{w-}\mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{b}}(\Omega)\right) \cap \mathrm{w-}L^{2}_{loc}\left([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)\right) \hookrightarrow L^{2}_{loc}\left([0,T); \mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)\right)$$

$$(4.1.20)$$

is continuous. The key step is the Rellich lamma for weighted Sobolev space, which states that  $\mathbb{V}_b(\Omega) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)$  is a compact embedding. Step 2 states that  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  is a relatively compact set in  $C([0,T); w-L_b^2(\Omega))$ and  $w-L_{loc}^2([0,T); \mathbb{V}_b(\Omega))$ , and because the compact operator maps weakly convergent sequences into strong convergent sequences, it follows that  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$  is strongly convergent in  $L_{loc}^2([0,T); \mathbb{H}_b(\Omega))$ .

#### **Step 4:** Passage to the limit as $m \to \infty$ .

We want to pass to the limit as  $m \to \infty$  in (4.1.11) using the energy estimate (4.1.13). We recall that at the present time  $\varepsilon > 0$  is fixed, and we are only concerned with a passage to the limit as  $m \to \infty$ . First, Step 2 and the energy estimate (4.1.13) ensures that there exists a subsequence of  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$ , which we still denote by  $\{\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}\}_m$ , such that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} & \text{weakly } \ast \text{ in } L^{\infty}\left([0,T); \mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)\right) \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{m}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} & \text{weakly in } L^{2}\left([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)\right) \\ \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon} & \text{strongly in } L^{2}(\Omega). \end{cases}$$
(4.1.21)

Now let  $\varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) \in \mathbb{V}_b(\Omega)$  and choose a  $\psi(t) \in \mathcal{D}[0,T)$  such that  $\psi(0) = 1$ and  $\psi(T) = 0$ . Multiply the equation in (4.1.11) by  $\langle \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{e}_i \rangle_b \psi(t)$  and sum over *i* from 1 to *m*. After integration in *t* over [0,T), we get

$$-\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_0^T a(\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\psi(t)dt + \int_0^T (\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}))\psi(t)dt = \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle_b.$$
(4.1.22)

Note that for the first term in this equation, due to the following identity

$$\begin{split} \int_{Q_T} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon} \psi(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= \int_{Q_T} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \big( \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi(t) \big) - \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \big) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \big( \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, T) \psi(T) - \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) \psi(0) \big) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} \\ &- \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon} \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= - \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle_b - \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt. \end{split}$$

We now let  $m \to \infty$  here. All the terms pass to the limit, thanks to the convergence (4.1.21), we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt &\to \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &\int_0^T a(\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \psi(t) dt \to \int_0^T a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \psi(t) dt \\ &\int_0^T (\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})) \psi(t) dt \to \int_0^T (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})) \psi(t) dt \end{split}$$

and

$$\langle oldsymbol{u}_{0m}^arepsilon(oldsymbol{x}),oldsymbol{arphi}(oldsymbol{x})
angle_b 
ightarrow \langle oldsymbol{u}_0^arepsilon(oldsymbol{x}),oldsymbol{arphi}(oldsymbol{x})
angle_b$$

Summing up the above convergence results, we finally get that  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}$  sat-

isfies the integral identity

$$-\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \int_0^T a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\psi(t)dt + \int_0^T (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}))\psi(t)dt = \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt + \langle \boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle_b,$$
(4.1.23)

which is exactly the variational equation in (4.1.7) since  $\psi$  and  $\varphi$  are arbitrary respectively in  $\mathcal{D}[0,T)$  and  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . This shows that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is the weak solution of (4.1.1).

#### **Step 5:** Existence of the pressure $p^{\varepsilon}$ .

Now we are in a position to show the existence of the pressure  $p^{\varepsilon}$ . First, we set, for  $t \in [0, T)$ 

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\varepsilon}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau) d\tau, \\ \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\varepsilon}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} -\frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau) \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla b + b \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (4.1.24) \\ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{f}}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \boldsymbol{f}(\tau) d\tau. \end{cases}$$

Then for  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \in \operatorname{w-}L^2_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_b(\Omega))$  is a solution of (4.1.1),

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\varepsilon}, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{f}} \in C([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}^{-1}(\Omega)).$$
 (4.1.25)

Integrating (4.1.1) for  $t \in [0, T)$ ; setting

$$\widetilde{p}^{\varepsilon}(t) = \int_0^t p^{\varepsilon}(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (4.1.26)$$

we obtain

$$b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) - b\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\varepsilon}(t))) + \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\varepsilon}(t) + b\nabla\widetilde{p}^{\varepsilon}(t) = \widetilde{\boldsymbol{f}}(t). \quad (4.1.27)$$

Then from the regularity property of elliptic equations (see Proposition I.1.1 and Proposition I.1.2 in [61]), we get for every  $t \in [0,T)$ , the existence of some function  $\tilde{p}^{\varepsilon}(t)$ ,

$$\widetilde{p}^{\varepsilon}(t) \in L^2_b(\Omega) \tag{4.1.28}$$

such that the formulation (4.1.27) satisfied. Since the gradient operator is an isomorphism from  $L^2(\Omega)/\mathbb{R}$  into  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$ , observing that

$$b\nabla \widetilde{p}^{\varepsilon}(t) = \widetilde{\boldsymbol{f}}(t) - \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\varepsilon}(t) + \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\varepsilon}(t))) - b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) + b\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}, \quad (4.1.29)$$

we conclude that  $\nabla \widetilde{p}^{\varepsilon}(t)$  belongs to  $C([0,T); H_b^{-1}(\Omega))$  and therefore

$$\widetilde{p}^{\varepsilon} \in C([0,T); L^2_b(\Omega)). \tag{4.1.30}$$

This enables us to differentiate (4.1.27) in sence of distribution in  $Q_T$ , thus we obtain (4.1.1). The pressure appears in general as a distribution on  $Q_T$  defined by (4.1.26) and (4.1.30). By application of Proposition I.1.2 in [61] it follows that

$$p^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}([0,T); H^1_b(\Omega)). \tag{4.1.31}$$

**Step 6:** The sequence  $\{p^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  converges weakly \* in  $L^{\infty}([0,T); H^1_b(\Omega))$ .

From (4.1.1), we can represent  $p^{\varepsilon}$  as

$$b\nabla p^{\varepsilon} = -\partial_t (b\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla b - b\operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})) + b\boldsymbol{f}.$$
(4.1.32)

From the results (3.2.22) and (3.2.23) in Section 3.2, for  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathbb{V}_{b}$ and every  $t \in [0, T)$ ,

$$|a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t),\boldsymbol{\varphi})| = \left| -\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t))) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \leqslant C' \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{H^{1}_{b}(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{H^{1}_{b}(\Omega)}$$

$$(4.1.33)$$

and

$$|(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t), \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(t), \boldsymbol{\varphi})| \leq C_0 \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)} \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{H_b^1(\Omega)}.$$
(4.1.34)

On the other hand, applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the Poincar $\acute{e}$  inequality,

$$\left| \langle \boldsymbol{f}(t), \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle_{b} \right| \leq \| \boldsymbol{f}(t) \|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)} \leq c \| \boldsymbol{f}(t) \|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}, \quad (4.1.35)$$

using the weak formulation (4.1.7),

$$\left| -\int_{\Omega} \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} b d\boldsymbol{x} \right|$$
  
=  $|-a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t), \boldsymbol{\varphi}) - (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t), \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(t), \boldsymbol{\varphi}) + \langle \boldsymbol{f}(t), \boldsymbol{\varphi} \rangle_b| \leq C \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{H^1_b(\Omega)}$ (4.1.36)

for every  $t \in [0, T)$ . Therefore, the terms in RHS of the identity (4.1.32) are all bounded in  $H_b^1(\Omega)$ . Therefore for all  $t \in [0, T)$ ,  $b\nabla p^{\varepsilon}(t)$  is also bounded in space  $H_b^1(\Omega)$ . Consequently, there exists a subsequence of  $\{p^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  still denoted by  $\{p^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  and  $p \in L^{\infty}([0, T); H_b^1(\Omega))$  such that

$$p^{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{w}} p$$
 weakly  $*$  in  $L^{\infty}([0,T); H^1_b(\Omega)).$  (4.1.37)

## Step 7: The energy inequality.

To recover the energy inequality (4.1.10) from the energy relation (4.1.13), first we note that the regularized initial data  $\boldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$  converges to  $\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$ strongly in  $L^{2}(\Omega)$  as m tends to infinite so that

$$\|oldsymbol{u}_{0m}^{arepsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} o \|oldsymbol{u}_0^{arepsilon}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

The convergence of  $\boldsymbol{u}_m^{\varepsilon}$  in  $C([0,T), \text{w-}\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega))$  together with the fact that the norm of the weak limit of a sequence is a lower bound for the inferior limit of the norms, yields

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^2_b(\Omega)}^2 \leqslant \liminf_{m \to \infty} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}_m(t)\|_{L^2_b(\Omega)}^2, \qquad 0 < t < T < \infty.$$

Then we obtain from (4.1.13) the energy inequality

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(T)\|_{H(\Omega)}^{2} + C \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{V(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau \leq \|\boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \frac{1}{C} \int_{0}^{T} \|f(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} d\tau.$$
(4.1.38)

## **Step 8** : *Proof of the uniqueness.*

Since the lake equation (4.1.1) is linear, the uniqueness follows immediately from the energy inequality. Let  $\boldsymbol{u}_1^{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{u}_2^{\varepsilon}$  be two solutions corresponding to the same data of (4.1.1) then their difference  $\boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon} \equiv \boldsymbol{u}_1^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{u}_2^{\varepsilon}$ satisfies the equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (b\boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon}) - \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla b + b \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) J \boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div} (b \Sigma(\boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon})), \\ \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, \qquad (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T, \\ \boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) = 0, \qquad (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_T, \\ \boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1.39)$$

and the energy inequality

$$\|\boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L_{b}^{2}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{H_{b}^{1}}^{2} d\tau \leq 0.$$
(4.1.40)

The energy inequality (4.1.40) implies that

$$\|\boldsymbol{U}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L_{b}^{2}}^{2} = 0, \qquad 0 \leq t < \infty,$$

and the uniqueness is proved. This completes the proof of Theorem 4.1.1.

## 4.2 Homogenization of the Viscous Lake equation

Now we will discuss the convergence of the weak formulation (4.1.7) as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . First, we give the following lemmas.

**Lemma 4.2.1.**  $\{u^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  is a relatively compact set in

$$C([0,T); \mathrm{w}\text{-}\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)) \cap \mathrm{w}\text{-}L^2_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_b(\Omega)).$$

**Lemma 4.2.2.** The sequence  $\{u^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  is a relatively compact set in

 $L^2_{loc}([0,T);\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega))$ 

endowed with the strong topology.

The proof of Lemma 4.2.1 and Lemma 4.2.2 are the same as Step 2 and Step 3 in Section 4.1. The detail is omitted.

Lemma 4.2.1 ensures that there exists a subsequence of  $\{\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ , which we still denote by  $\{\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ , and  $\boldsymbol{u} \in C([0,T); \mathbb{H}_b(\Omega))$  such that

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{u} \quad \text{in} \quad C([0,T); \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)) \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
 (4.2.1)

We deduce from Lemma 4.2.2 that  $\{\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  is bounded in  $L^{2}_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega))$ . This implies that there exists a subsequence of  $\{\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  (still denoted by  $\{\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ ) and a function

$$\boldsymbol{u} \in L^2_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_b(\Omega))$$

such that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u} & \text{in } \mathrm{w}\text{-}L^{2}_{loc}\big([0,T);\mathrm{w}\text{-}\mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)\big) \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \nabla \boldsymbol{u} & \text{in } \mathrm{w}\text{-}L^{2}_{loc}\big([0,T);\mathrm{w}\text{-}\mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)\big) \\ \Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \Delta \boldsymbol{u} & \text{in } \mathrm{w}\text{-}L^{2}_{loc}\big([0,T);\mathrm{w}\text{-}\mathbb{V}_{b}^{-1}(\Omega)\big) . \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.2)$$

In addition, we suppose the weak convergence of the initial condition

$$\boldsymbol{u}_0^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{u}_0$$
 weakly in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . (4.2.3)

Then the convergence (4.2.1)-(4.2.3) imply the following convergences

$$\int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x},t)\psi'(t)\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}$$
$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}))\cdot\boldsymbol{\varphi}d\boldsymbol{x} \to \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}))\cdot\boldsymbol{\varphi}d\boldsymbol{x} \qquad (4.2.4)$$
$$\langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle_{b} \to \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{0}(\boldsymbol{x}),\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})\rangle_{b}$$

for all  $\varphi \in L^2(\Omega) \cap C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and  $\psi \in \mathcal{D}[0,T)$ . By energy estimate and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \boldsymbol{\psi}'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b d\boldsymbol{x} \right| \leq \sup_{0 \leq t < T} |\boldsymbol{\psi}'(t)| \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{2}_{b}(\Omega)} \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$$

$$\leq C \| \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{2}_{b}(\Omega)}$$

$$(4.2.5)$$

for all  $0 < t < \infty$ . Then the convergence (4.2.4) and Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem ensure the convergence

$$\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \to \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt.$$
(4.2.6)

Similarly, from the convergence (4.2.4), the boundedness result (3.2.22)and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem imply the convergence

$$\int_0^T a(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{\varphi})\psi(t)dt \to \int_0^T a(\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x},t),\boldsymbol{\varphi})\psi(t)dt.$$
(4.2.7)

Now we need to consider the convergence of the trilinear term

$$\int_0^T (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t), \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x})) \psi(t) dt \qquad (4.2.8)$$

in the weak formulation (4.1.7). As we shown in Section 3.3, the convergences (3.3.12)-(3.3.15) also hold for  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t)$  and  $(\boldsymbol{x},t) \in Q_T$ . The boundedness result (3.2.23) of the trilinear form and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem ensure the convergences of the terms in the trilinear form expect the term  $b(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t))^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$ . For the same reason as in Section 3.3, we have to determine the limit of  $b(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x},t))^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}$ . In this way, we imitate Tartar approach and construct a homogenized equation of the test function  $\boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda}$  for  $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ 

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) + b \operatorname{div} ((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) + b \nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{div} (b \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})), \\ \operatorname{div} (b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(x, 0) = \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda 0}^{\varepsilon}(x), \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.9)$$

Moreover, we assume that

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda 0}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda 0} = 0$$
 weakly in  $L^{2}(\Omega)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . (4.2.10)

First, we give the energy estimate of (4.2.9) as

$$\begin{aligned} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(T)\|_{L_{b}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + C \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{H_{b}^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} dt \\ \leqslant \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \int_{Q_{T}} \boldsymbol{F}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2.11)$$

where  $\mathbf{F}^{\varepsilon} = -\operatorname{div}((\mathbf{v}^{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda})$ . Since  $\mathbf{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{w}{\rightharpoonup} \mathbf{v}$  weakly in  $L^{\infty}(Q_T)$  and  $L^{\infty}(Q_T) \subset L^r(Q_T)$  for  $1 \leq r < \infty$ , then

$$\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} \boldsymbol{v}$$
 weakly in  $L^r(Q_T)$ .

This shows that for bounded smooth domain  $\Omega$ ,

$$\boldsymbol{F}^{\varepsilon} = -\mathrm{div} ((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \quad \mathrm{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0 \,,$$

or

$$\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{F}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
 (4.2.12)

Then we obtain

$$\|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T);\mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega))} + \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}([0,T);\mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega))}$$

$$\leq \|\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \int_{Q_{T}} \boldsymbol{F}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \qquad (4.2.13)$$

Therefore,

$$\{\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\} \text{ is bounded in } L^{\infty}([0,T);\mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}([0,T);\mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)).$$
(4.2.14)

Using the same method as Step 2 and 3 in Section 4.1, we can assert that the sequence  $\{\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  is a relatively compact set in

$$C([0,T); \mathrm{w}-\mathbb{H}_b(\Omega)) \cap \mathrm{w}-L^2_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{V}_b(\Omega))$$

and in strong topology of  $L^2_{loc}([0,T); \mathbb{H}_b(\Omega))$ . Hence there exists a subsequence of  $\{\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ , which we still denote by  $\{\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ , and  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda} \in C([0,T); \mathbb{H}_b(\Omega))$  such that

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \to 0 & \text{in } C([0,T); \text{w-}\mathbb{H}_{b}(\Omega)) \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\text{w}}{\to} 0 & \text{in } \text{w-}L_{loc}^{2}([0,T); \text{w-}\mathbb{V}_{b}(\Omega)) \end{cases}$$
(4.2.15)

as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Now back to the equation (4.2.9), using the convergence of  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ , same as convergences (4.2.4) we obtain for  $\varepsilon \to 0$ 

$$\int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \rightarrow \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt$$
$$\int_{Q_T} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x} \rightarrow \int_{Q_T} \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}\lambda)) \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} d\boldsymbol{x}$$
$$\langle \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda 0}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle_b \rightarrow \langle \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda 0}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) \rangle_b.$$
(4.2.16)

From the equation (4.2.9),  $q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies the following equation

$$b\nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = -\partial_t (b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})) - b \operatorname{div}((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}), \quad (4.2.17)$$

then by the convergences (4.2.12) and (4.2.16), we have

$$b\nabla q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = -\partial_t (b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})) - b \operatorname{div}((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0. \quad (4.2.18)$$

Due to the regularity theorem of the elliptic equations,

$$q_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \quad \text{weakly} * \text{in} \quad L^{\infty}([0,T); H_b^1(\Omega)).$$
 (4.2.19)

The weak formulation of (4.1.1) is

$$\begin{split} \int_{Q_T} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda}) \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) \psi(t) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &- 2 \int_{Q_T} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) \psi(t) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &= - \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \psi'(t) \varphi \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \int_{Q_T} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \nabla \varphi I) \psi(t) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &- 2 \int_{S_T} \kappa(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) (\boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}) \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) \psi(t) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{Q_T} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) \nabla \log b \cdot \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \varphi \psi(t) b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &- \int_{Q_T} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \varphi \psi b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &- \int_{Q_T} (\nabla \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \varphi \psi b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt + \int_{Q_T} \boldsymbol{f} \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \varphi \psi b(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} dt \\ &+ \langle \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}_{0}(\boldsymbol{x}), \varphi \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda} \rangle_{b} \,. \end{split}$$

Here we use the identity

$$\operatorname{div}(b\varphi \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) = \varphi \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) + b\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}\nabla\varphi = 0$$

so we let  $\nabla \varphi = 0$ . Due to the convergence  $\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\text{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0$  the RHS of the equation (4.2.20) tends to 0, consequently the formulation (4.2.20) can be written as

$$\int_{Q_T} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda})\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt$$

$$-2\int_{Q_T} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}) : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda}\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt = o(1).$$
(4.2.21)

In the same way, we write the weak formulation of (4.2.9) as

$$\int_{Q_T} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt$$

$$-\int_{Q_T} \left( (\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\lambda} \right) : \nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt = o(1).$$

$$(4.2.22)$$

Recall that

$$(\boldsymbol{u}^{arepsilon}\otimes \boldsymbol{v}^{arepsilon}): 
abla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{arepsilon} = (
abla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{arepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{arepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{arepsilon}$$

and

$$((\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v})\otimes\boldsymbol{\lambda}):\nabla\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}=(\nabla\boldsymbol{u}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v})\cdot\boldsymbol{\lambda}.$$

Therefore, the equations (4.2.21) an (4.2.22) can be rewritten as

$$\int_{Q_T} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda})\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt$$

$$-2\int_{Q_T} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})\psi(t)b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt = o(1)$$
(4.2.23)

and

$$\int_{Q_T} \Sigma(\boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}) : \Sigma(\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt - \int_{Q_T} (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) \cdot \lambda\varphi(\boldsymbol{x})b(\boldsymbol{x})d\boldsymbol{x}dt = o(1).$$

$$(4.2.24)$$

The remaining steps proceeds along the same lines as given in Section 3.3 with modification. We have the following lemma

**Lemma 4.2.3.** For  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $1 \leq r < \infty$ , there exists a positive definite symmetric matrix-valued function M such that (up to a subsequence)

$$\begin{cases} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 + M\boldsymbol{\lambda} = M\boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad weakly \ in \quad W_{1} \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M\boldsymbol{\lambda} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu} \quad weakly * in \quad \mathcal{M}(Q_{T}) \quad and \quad W_{2} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.25)$$

where  $W_1 = L_{loc}^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}([0,T); L_b^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}(\Omega))$  and  $W_2 = L_{loc}^1([0,T); L_b^1(\Omega))$ . Moreover, since  $\mathbf{u}^{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{u}$  in  $C([0,T); \mathrm{w-H}_b(\Omega))$ , we have

 $(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad weakly * in \quad \mathcal{M}(Q_{T})$ (4.2.26) and weakly in  $L_{loc}^{\frac{2r}{2+r}} ([0,T); L_{b}^{\frac{r}{1+r}}(\Omega)).$ 

Taking the difference of (4.2.23) and (4.2.24), we derive that

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v})\cdot\boldsymbol{\lambda}\stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 2(\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}\cdot\boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon}.$$

From (4.2.26),

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v})\cdot\boldsymbol{\lambda}\overset{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup}2M\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\boldsymbol{\lambda},$$

thus

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{v}) \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 2M\boldsymbol{u} \quad \text{in} \quad \mathrm{w}-L_{loc}^{\frac{2r}{2+r}}([0,T);\mathrm{w}-L_{b}^{1}(\Omega)). \quad (4.2.27)$$

Consequently,

$$(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} = (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{v}) + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 2M\boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{v}. \quad (4.2.28)$$

Moreover, for the Navier boundary conditions, due to the linearity and the weak compactness of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  we can write the limit of the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \partial \Omega.$$

In consequence, the homogenization of the viscous lake equation can be represented as:

**Theorem 4.2.4.** Let  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . The solution  $u^{\varepsilon}$  of (4.1.1) converges weakly to the solution u of the Brinkman equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (b\boldsymbol{u}) - \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}) \nabla b + b \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}) J \boldsymbol{u} + b \nabla p + 2M \boldsymbol{u} = \operatorname{div}(b\Sigma(\boldsymbol{u})) + b \boldsymbol{f} \\ \operatorname{div}(b\boldsymbol{u}) = 0, \qquad (\boldsymbol{x}, t) \in Q_T \\ \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, 0) = \boldsymbol{u}_0(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \end{cases}$$

with the Navier boundary conditions

$$\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} = 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \left( \nabla \boldsymbol{u} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \cdot \nabla = -\beta \boldsymbol{\tau} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, t) \in S_{T},$$

where M is the positive definite symmetric matrix-valued function defined by

$$\begin{cases} (\nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{v}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \cdot \boldsymbol{v} + M \boldsymbol{\lambda} = M \boldsymbol{\lambda} & \text{weakly in } W_{1} \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon} : \nabla \boldsymbol{w}_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\rightharpoonup} M \boldsymbol{\lambda} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu} & \text{weakly * in } \mathcal{M}(Q_{T}) \text{ and } W_{2} \end{cases}$$

where  $W_1, W_2$  are defined in Lemma 4.2.3.

## Bibliography

- G. Allaire, Homogenization of the Navier-Stokes equations in open sets perforated with tiny holes. I. Abstract framework, a volume distribution of holes, *Arch. Rational Mech. Anal.*, 113(3), (1990) 209–259.
- [2] G. Allaire, Homogenization of the Navier-Stokes equations in open sets perforated with tiny holes. II. Noncritical sizes of the holes for a volume distribution and a surface distribution of holes, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 113(3), (1990) 261–298.
- G. Allaire, Homogenization and two-scale convergence, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 23, (1992) 1482–1518.
- [4] G. Allaire, Two-scale convergence: a new method in periodic homogenization, Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations and their Applications, College de France Seminar, Vol. XII, H. Brezis and J.-L. Lions, Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics, Longman Harlow, (1994) 1–14.
- [5] N. S. Bachvalov, Homogenization of partial differential equations with rapidly oscillating coefficients, *Doklady Akad. Nauk SSSR* 221. No. 3, (1975) 516–519.

- [6] N. S. Bachvalov and G. Panasenko, Homogenization: Averaging Processes in Periodic Media, Kluwer, Dortmund. Boston. London., 1989.
- [7] C. Bardos, Existence et unicité de la solution de l'équation d'Euler en dimension deux, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 40, (1972) 769–790.
- [8] A. Bensoussan, J.-L. Lions and G. Papanicolaou, *Asymptotic Anal*ysis for Periodic Structure, North Holland, Amsterdam, 1978.
- [9] D. Bresch and G. Métivier, Global existence and uniqueness for the lake equations with vanishing topography: elliptic estimates for degenerate equations, *Nonlinearity*, 19, (2006) 591–610.
- [10] D. Bresch, M. Gisclon and C. K. Lin, An example of low Mach (Froude) number effects for compressible flows with nonconstant density (height) limit, *ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis*, 39, (2005) 477–486.
- [11] H. C. Brinkman, A calculation of the viscous force exerted by a flowing fluid on a dense swarm of particles, *Appl. Sci. Res.*, A1, (1947) 27–34.
- [12] V. Bogachev, Weak Convergence of Measure, Mathematical Survey and Monographs, 234, AMS, 2018.
- [13] M. Briane and P. Gérard, A drift homogenization problem revisited, Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa Class di Scienze, (2012) 1-39.
- [14] R. Camassa, D. D. Holm and C. D. Levermore, Long-time effects of bottom topography in shallow water, *Physica*, D98, (1996) 258– 286.

- [15] R. Camassa, D. D. Holm and C. D. Levermore, Long-time shallowwater equations with a varying bottom, J. Fluid Mech., 349, (1997) 173–189.
- [16] D. Cioranescu and P. Donato, An Introduction to Homogenization, Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and Its Applications, 234, Oxford University Press, 2000.
- [17] R. Coifman, P. L. Lions, Y. Meyer and S. Semmes, Compensated compactness and Hardy spaces, J. Math. Pures Appl., 72, (1993) 247–286.
- [18] G. Dafni, Nonhomogeneous div-curl lemma and local Hardy space, Advanced Differential Equations, 10, (2005) 505–526.
- [19] J. M. Delort, Existence de nappes de tourbillon en dimension deux, Journal of the Americian Mathematical Society, 4(1991), 553–586.
- [20] R. DiPerna and A. Majda, Oscillations and Concentrations in Weak Solutions of the Incompressible Fluid Equations, *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 108, (1987) 667–689.
- [21] R. DiPerna and A. Majda, Concentrations in Regularization for 2 - D Incompressible Flow, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 40, (1987) 301–345.
- [22] R. DiPerna and A. Majda, Reduced Hausdorff dimension and concentration cancellation for two-dimensional incompressible flow, *Journal of the Americian Mathematical Society*, 1, (1988) 59–95.
- [23] L. C. Evans, Weak Convergence Methods for Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations, CBMS, 74, American Math. Society, 1990.

- [24] L. C. Evans and S. Müller, Hardy space and the two-dimensional Euler equations with nonnegative vorticity, *Journal of the Americian Mathematical Society*, 7, (1994) 199–219.
- [25] E. Feireisl and Y. Lu, Homogenization of stationary Navier-Stokes equations in domains with tiny holes, *Journal of Mathematical Fluid Mechanics*, 17, (2015) 381–392.
- [26] E. Feireisl, Y. Namlyeyeva and Š. Nečasová, Homogenization of the evolutionary Navier-Stokes system, *Manuscripta Math.*, 149, (2016) 251–274.
- [27] D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger, *Elliptic Partial Differential Equa*tions of Second Order, Second Edition, Springer-Verlag, 1983.
- [28] H. P. Greenspan, The Theory of Rotating Fluid, Cambridge University Press, 1968.
- [29] M. Hillairet, On the homogenization of the Stokes problem in a perforated domain, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 230, (2018) 1179– 1228.,
- [30] Q. Jiu and D. Niu, Vanishing viscous limits for the 2D lake equations with Navier boundary conditions, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 338, (2008) 1070–1080.
- [31] Q. Jiu, D. Niu and J. Wu, Vanishing Viscosity Limits for the Degenerate lake equations with Navier Boundary Condition, *Nonlinearity*, 25, (2012) 641–655.
- [32] J. P. Kelliher, Navier-Stokes equations with Navier boundary conditions for a bounded domain in the plane, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 38, (2006) 210–232.

- [33] C. Lacave, T. Nguyen and B. Paudaser, Topography Influence on the Lake Equations in Bounded Domains, *Journal of Mathematical Fluid Mechanics*, 16, (2014) 375–406.
- [34] O. A. Ladyzhenskaya, The Mathematical Theory of Viscous Incompressible Flow, translated from the Russian, Mathematics and its Applications, 2, Gordon and Breach, Science Publishers, New York-London-Paris, 1969.
- [35] J. Leray, Sur le mouvement d'um fluide visqueux emplissant l'espace, *Acta Math*, (1934) 193-248.
- [36] C. D. Levermore, M. Oliver and E. S. Titi, Global well-posedness for models of shallow water in a basin with a vary bottom, *Indiana* University Mathematics Journal, 45, (1996) 479–510.
- [37] C. D. Levermore and M. Sammartino, A shallow water modeled with eddy viscosity for basins with vanishing topography, *Nonlin*earity, 14, (2001) 1493–1515.
- [38] C. K. Lin, C. T. Lin, Y. P. Lin and M. Mei, Exponential Satbility of Non-monotone Traveling Wave Nicholson's Blowflies Equation, *SIAM Journal of Mathematical Analysis*, 46, (2014) 1053–1084.
- [39] C. K. Lin and K. C. Wu, Singular Limits of the Klein-Gordon Equation, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 197, (2010) 689–711.
- [40] C. K. Lin and K. C. Wu, On the Fluid Approximation to the Klein-Gordon Equation, Discrete and Continue Dynamical System, 32, (2012) 2233–2251.

- [41] C. K. Lin and K. C. Wu, Hydrodynamics Limits of the Nonlinear Klein-Gordon Equation, *Journal de Math. Pures et Appl.*, 98, (2012) 328–345.
- [42] J. L. Lions, Quelques Méthods de Résolution des Problèmes aux Limites non Linéarie, 1969. (Paris: Dunod)
- [43] P-L. Lions, Mathematical Topics in Fluid Mechanics, Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications, 1, Incompressible Models, Oxford Science Publications, 1996.
- [44] Y. Lu and S. Schwarzacher, Homogenization of the compressible Navier-Stokes equations in domains with very tiny holes, *Journal* of Differential Equations, 265, (2018) 1371–1406.
- [45] Y. Lu, Homogenization of Stokes equations in perforated domains: a unified approach, J. Math. Fluid Mech., 22, (2020) 44.
- [46] V. A. Marchenko and E. J. Hruslov, Boundary Value Problems in Domains with a Fine Grained Boundary (Russian), Naukova Dumka, Kiev, 1974.
- [47] A. J. Majda and A. L. Bertozzi, Vorticity and Incompressible Flow, Cambridge Text in Applied Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- [48] A. Mikeliě, Homogenization of nonstationary Navier-Stokes equations in a domain with a grained boundary, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl., 158, (1991) 167–179.
- [49] F. Murat, H-Convergence, Séminaire d'analyse fonctionnelle et numérique de l'Université d'Alger, duplicated, (1978) 34.

- [50] G. Nguetseng, A general convergence result for a functional related to the theory of homogenization, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 20, (1989) 608–629.
- [51] E. E. Sanchez-Palencia, Solutions périodiques par rapport aux variables d'espaces et applications, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Sér., A-B 271, (1970) A1129–A1132.
- [52] E. E. Sanchez-Palencia, Equations aux dérivées partielles dans un type de milieux hétérogènes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Sér., A-B 272, (1971) A1410–A1413.
- [53] S. Semmes, A primer on Hardy spaces and some remarks on a theorem of Evans and Müller, Commun. in Partial Differential Equations, 19(1994), 277–319.
- [54] S. Spagnolo, Sul limite delle soluzioni di problemi di Cauchy relativi all'equazione del Galore, Ann. Sc. Norm. Sup. Pisa, 21, (1967) 657–699.
- [55] B. A. Taki, Viscosity effect on the degenerate lake equation, Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications, 148, (2017) 30– 60.
- [56] L. Tartar, Cours Pecrot au College de France (unpublished 1977), partially written in Murat[49].
- [57] L. Tartar, Homogénéisation en hydrodynamique, in "Singular Perturbation and Boundary Layer Theory", *Lecture Note in Mathematics*, 597, Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg, (1977) 474–481.

- [58] L. Tartar, Remarks on homogenization, in "Homogenization and Effective Moduli of Materials and Media", *IMA Vol. Math. Appl.* 1, Springer, New-York, (1986) 228–246.
- [59] L. Tartar, H-measures, a new approach for studying homogenisation, oscillations and concentration effects in partial differential equations, *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect.*, A115A, (1990) 193– 230.
- [60] L. Tartar, The General Theory of Homogenization: A Personalized Introduction, Lecture Notes of the Unione Matematica Italiana, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 2009.
- [61] R. Temam, Navier-Stokes Equations: Theory and Numerical Analysis, AMS Chelsea, Providence, 2001.
- [62] Y. Tsutsui, An application of weighted Hardy space to the Navier-Stokes equations, *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 266, (2014) 1395–1420.
- [63] O. A. Oleinik, On the homogenization of differential equations with rapidly oscillating coefficients, IX International Conference on Nonlinear Vibrations, 1, (1981) 286–289.
- [64] V. V. Zhikov, S. M. Kozlov, O. A. Oleinik, Homogenization of differential operators and integral functionals, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994.